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	Town of Fort Smith

Corporate Services Committee

Tuesday, DATE, 2024 at 8:15 pm 
Town Hall Council Chambers



	
	Attached Documents

	1. Call to Order
2. Declaration of Financial Interest
a. Statement of Disclosure of Interest

3. Delegation

a. Avery Cooper - William Senfuma
4. Review 

a. Agenda
b. Minutes

c. Vision and Values

d. Strategic Plan
	
[image: image2.emf]Statement of  Disclosure of Interest.pdf


[image: image3.emf]Delegation.pdf


[image: image4.emf]Corporate Services  Minutes July 9, 2024.pdf



[image: image5.emf]Vision and  Values.pdf



 EMBED AcroExch.Document.DC  [image: image6.emf]Strategic Plan.pdf



	5. Governance

a. Human Resources Committee

i. Screening Date for Director of Community Services 
b. Communications Committee 

c. Bylaw Review Committee

d. Post-Secondary Education Committee

e. NTPC Intervention Committee



	

	6. Directors Report

a. Accounts Paid List 
b. Correspondence 

c. License Report 

7. Administration

a. Briefing Note -  Fireweed Festival Donation Request
b. Briefing Note -  Lawrie Hobart Memorial Donation Request
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	8. Other Business

9. Excusing of Councillors

10. Date of Next Meeting
11. Adjournment
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2024 Correspondence Log – July 


 
Date From/To Description CC Response 
July 11, 2024 GNWT/ Mayor  Community Based Joint Use 


Agreements 
 NA 


July 22, 2024 Fort Smith Metis Council 
/ Mayor  


Trailcross Facility - Letter of 
Support  Yes 


 
 


July 23, 2024 


Canadian Northern 
Economic Development 


Agency / Mayor 


 
 


Funding Support letter  


 
 


Yes 
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Town of Fort Smith 


Corporate Services Standing Committee 
Tuesday, July 9, 2024 at 8:15 pm 


Town Hall Council Chambers 
 


Chairperson:  Cr. Tuckey 
Members: Mayor Daniels, D/M Korol, Cr. Fergusson, Cr. Campbell, Cr. 


Pischinger, Cr. Beaulieu, Cr. Couvrette 
Regrets:  
Staff Present:  Tracy Thomas, Senior Administrative Officer 
 Sarah Westwell, Executive Secretary 
Guests:   
   


1. Call to Order  
Mayor Daniels called the meeting to order at 7:55pm and handed the Chair 
to Cr. Tuckey. 
 


2. Delegations 
 
 


3. Declaration of Financial Interest 
a. Statement of Disclosure of Interest 


 
4. Review  


a. Agenda –The agenda was reviewed. 
RECOMMENDATION 
Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: D/M Korol 
That the agenda be adopted as presented. 
MOTION CARRIED 


 
b. Minutes – The Corporate Services Standing Committee Minutes of June 


4th, 2024 were reviewed and adopted at the Regular Meeting of Council on 
June 18th, 2024. 
 


c. Vision and Values – The Vision and Values were reviewed. 
 


d. Strategic Plan – The Strategic Plan was reviewed.  
 


5. Governance Committee Reports 
 


a. Human Resources Committee 
 


b. Communications Committee 
 


c. Bylaw Review Committee 
 


Administration noted that she has been trying to meet however due to 
conflicting schedules it has been difficult. There are a few HR policies that 
we need to move forward with and would appreciate a meeting soon.  


 
d. Post-Secondary Education Committee 


 
e. NTPC Intervention Committee 


 
Administration gave a quick update that an argument was submitted, and 
they have responded. It is moving forward.  


 
Cr. Campbell stated that the committees seem to be falling apart, there are 
no monthly meetings or communication within the department. We have 
to get back to where we were a few years ago.  
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Cr. Fergusson stated that the NTPC is very active, as well as the Bylaw 
Review committee. Most boards are as is needed.  
 


6. Director’s Report 
a. Accounts Paid List – The Accounts Paid List from June 2024 was 


reviewed.  
 
Cr. Campbell questioned cheque 41794, for rent. Cr. Campbell believed that 
Council was going to receive something explaining the full cost of that and to put 
it out to tender.  
 
Administration responded stating that with the priority being public health and 
safety and emergency preparedness there has not been a chance to focus on where 
we are housing our ambulance staff, it is on the list of things to do once we are 
out of the emergency preparedness season.  
 
Point of order. Violation of Code of Conduct.  
 
Cr. Campbell, cheque 41879 Wildfire Services, was this put out to tender for 
anyone in Fort Smith to bid on.  
 
Administration responded stating all of the Fire Smarting contracts were put out 
to tender.  
 
Cr. Fergusson questioned cheque 41781, Groceries supply for Fire Truck 
referencing Daycare/ Ambulance.  
 
Administration speculated that it was around the parade but will confirm.  
 


b. Correspondence – The Correspondence List from June 2024 was 
reviewed.  


 
Cr. Fergusson, looking into the correspondence there has not yet been a response 
to the St. John Anglican Church in regards for their request for clarification on 
taxed. Asking if they said they were coming to delegate and if so, could we get a 
briefing note as a reminder update for the fees.  
 
Cr. Tuckey noted that they were planning to delegate at the end of August.  
 
Administration stated that she was looking to Council to invite them and set the 
date and what Council wanted on this. For clarification, Administration 
understands that Council would like to accept their request and for Administration 
to prepare an information briefing note in preparation for that meeting.  
 
Cr. Fergusson advised that a letter explaining the tax may be a better place to 
start.  
 
Cr. Campbell stated that this would be a touchy subject, inquiring if maybe we 
should involve Leadership.  
 
Cr. Pischinger agreed, sending a letter is a good start.  
 


RECOMMENDATION 
Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: Cr. Campbell 
That Administration follows up with the correspondence log for St. 
John’s Anglican Church from the Mayor and Council to address their 
questions regarding the rates and fees changes in a detailed letter.  
MOTION CARRIED 


 
Cr. Fergusson spoke on the letter to MACA regarding the Arctic Winter games, 
boasting Fort Smith athletes and volunteers. Stating she would be in favour of 
hosting and it should be talked about.  
 







Corporate Service Standing Committee 
Date of Meeting: July 9th, 2024 Page 3 
 


Cr. Campbell agreed that it should be talked about, it is a considerable workload 
and takes a lot of people involved behind the scenes and it is a big financial 
commitment.  
 
Cr. Fergusson stated that step one is asking Hay River if they are interested first. 
Step two would be reaching out to MACA with directions.  
 
Mayor Daniels agreed that it would be good for Fort Smith but questioned if we 
would have the money or the manpower for it.  
 
Cr. Fergusson asked if Administration could follow up and let Council know if 
the other communities are interested in this because that would decide if Fort 
Smith is doing it or not.  


 
c. License Report – The License Report from June 2024 was reviewed.  


 
 


7. Administration 
a. Briefing Note - HR Project 


 
RECOMMENDATION 
Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: D/M Korol 
That Council accepts the update on the status of the HR project as 
information.  
MOTION CARRIED 


 
 Administration commented that having this project in place before her arrival was 
 a huge support and was an asset in developing better policies and processes.  
 


b. Capital Projects Report 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: Cr. Campbell 
That Council accepts the Capital Projects monthly report for July 
2024 as presented.  
MOTION CARRIED 


 
 Cr. Fergusson commented on how great Conibear Park looks.  
 
 Cr. Campbell questioned what was happening with the backup generator, as well  
 as well as the Ice Plant.   
 


Administration gave an update that on June 12th there was a meeting with the 
design engineer. There are some outstanding questions and details that are being 
confirmed. Location, generator size with updated records of peak use.  


 
Cr. Campbell stated that this engineer design team for months, why are there only 
questions now? We have to push them to get this going. We already have a 
location, it is going to be on the far side by the skateboard park but its not a very 
big generator building. It just seems like this is dragging on. The Ice Plant for 
CRC, questioned if it was in the process and if we are going to have the pad 
poured in time. Instead of waiting until the fall to get the concrete poured we 
should be putting it out to tender.  
 
Administration advised that she requested an updated schedule on June 24th but 
has not received anything as of yet.  As soon as an update is available it will be 
brought to Council.  
 
 


c. Briefing Note – CPI Funding Agreement 
 
RECOMMENDATION 







Corporate Service Standing Committee 
Date of Meeting: July 9th, 2024 Page 4 
 


Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: Cr. Pischinger 
That Council approves the CPI funding Contribution Agreements 
with MACA for fiscal year 2024-2025 in the amount of $1,656,000. 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
Cr. Fergusson stated that she believes this is underfunded. This amount is 
not enough for our aging infrastructure. If our MLA or Premier are here 
next week and our Leadership is meeting with them they should be 
pushing them to give us the money it takes just to maintain our aging 
infrastructure.  
 
Mayor Daniels stated that he will be looking at that when they meet, 
Council is more than welcome to attend. The meeting is on the 23rd at 
9:30am at the Salt River Business Center. Mayor Daniels stated that he 
will also be looking at other federal funding for these projects.  


 
d. Briefing Note – O&M Funding Agreement  


 
RECOMMENDATION 
Moved by: Cr. Campbell 
Seconded by: Cr. Fergusson 
That Council approves the Operations and Maintenance Funding 
Contribution Agreements with MACA for fiscal year 2024-2025 in the 
amount of $2,408,000. 
MOTION CARRIED 
 


 
e. Briefing Note – Water and Sewer Funding Agreement  


 
RECOMMENDATION 
Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: Cr. Pischinger 
That Council approves the Water and Sewer Subsidy Funding 
Contribution Agreements with MACA for fiscal year 2024-2025 in the 
amount of $671,000. 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
Cr. Fergusson noted that she believes this is also underfunded from what it 
costs resulting in the remainder of the cost coming from taxpayers. We 
have services that we cannot afford to develop. If Leadership is in the 
room with our MLA or Premier they need to be advocating for proper 
money and giving us the right amount of funds to actually provide the 
services that are basic minimal needs for our community.  


 
f. Briefing Note – MSA Extension Request SRFN/ Town 


 
RECOMMENDATION 
Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: Cr. Campbell 
That Council approves the Salt River First Nation Municipal Services 
Agreement Extension.  


 
Administration advised that Salt River First Nation wants to move forward 
with this and they are cooperative regarding outstanding payment in leu of 
taxes and very amenable with working towards a new Municipal Service 
Agreement they just have not been able to have a council meeting as of 
yet, so they are unable to make any motions or approve anything. They 
have asked for an additional year extension so that they can, in good faith, 
continue to move forward.  
 
Cr. Campbell questioned if this is going to open up the water with the new 
subdivision.  
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Administration stated that this is just extending the existing agreement 
with the terms contained in it.  
 
Cr. Fergusson stated that extending the agreement is good, however, 
something that we are cautious of is if we say to extend the agreement 
does that turn the water on because we are not ready to take that on.  
 
Administration requested that Council give a direction in response that 
Council is in support of moving forward extending the agreement while 
we negotiate a new municipal service agreement while understanding 
signing this agreement extension does not in anyway approve turning on 
the water to the new sub-division.  
 
D/M Korol questioned if this recommendation should be tabled until there 
is clarification.  
 
Cr. Fergusson stated that she does not believe the recommendation needs 
to be tabled, continued on to make an updated motion.  


 
RECOMMENDATION  
Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: Cr. Campbell 
That Council directs Administration to approve an extension for the 
Municipal Services Agreement noting that the services for the 
development of the new subdivision will not be turned on until we can 
properly accept the load to our services.   
MOTION CARRIED 


 
g. In-Camera in accordance with the Cities, Towns, and Villages Act, 


Section 23(3)(d)(e)(i) 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: D/M Korol 
That Council move in-camera in accordance with the Cities, Towns, 
and Villages Act, Section 23(3)(d)(e)(i) the salary, benefits or 
performance record of an employee; a matter still under consideration 
and on which Council has not yet publicly announced a decision, if 
discussion in public would likely prejudice the municipal corporation’s 
ability to carry out its activities or negotiations; the conduct of an 
investigation under, or enforcement of, an enactment or bylaw.  
MOTION CARRIED 


 
RECOMMENDATION 
Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: D/M Korol 
That Council move out of in-camera at 9:47pm. 


 
  RECOMMENDATION 


Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: D/M Korol 
That Council approves the increase in the Sewage Lagoon Liner 
Replacement Project Budget to include the additional design and 
project costs.  
5 AGREE/ 1 OPPOSED  
MOTION CARRIED 


 
RECOMMENDATION 
Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: D/M Korol 
That Council approves the award of the Sewage Lagoon Liner 
Replacement Project to NWT Construction.  
5 AGREE/ 1 OPPOSED  
MOTION CARRIED 
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8. Other Business 


  
 


9. Excusing of Councillors 
                   RECOMMENDATION 


Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: Cr. Pischinger 
That Cr. Beaulieu and Cr. Couvrette be excused from the Corporate 
Services Standing Committee Meeting on July 9, 2024. 
MOTION CARRIED 


 
                   


10. Date of Next Meeting  
The next Corporate Services Standing Committee meeting will be on August 
6th, 2024. 


 
11. Adjournment  


RECOMMENDATION 
Moved by: Cr. Fergusson 
Seconded by: D/M Korol 
That the meeting be adjourned at 9:50pm. 
MOTION CARRIED 


 






_1784017981.pdf


BRIEFING NOTE 


To: Mayor and Council 


From: Administration 


Date: August 6, 2024 


Subject: 2023 Audit – Management Discussion  


Purpose: 


To provide Council with an overview of the 2023 Financial Statements 


Analysis: 


The Town of Fort Smith is in a strong financial position.  The Town's total assets exceed 


the total liabilities, which includes the long-term debt of the arena that was established at 


the completion of the project in 2015 which will be paid in full December 2024.  The 


Town has sufficient resources to meet its financial commitments in the coming year. 


In 2023, total financial assets decreased 6% from 2022, however the Town’s Tangible 


Capital Assets increased by 3% over the previous year.  This change is a result of 


completing capital work  started in 2022, including the completion of the retrofit of the 


CRC, and the completion of paving of roads, including Carl’s Drive and Bell Rock areas.  


In 2023, the town completed $3.2 million of capital work. 


Total liabilities were $1.3 million lower than in 2022.  Deferred revenue was increased by 


$59.1 thousand.  Long-term debt decreased by $495 thousand, representing the 


repayment of the debenture on the arena.  The debenture shall be retired by the end of 


2024.  Total non-financial assets have grown by $1.3 million since 2022.  In 2022, 
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Administration was able to resolve a long-standing school tax issue, with a payment of 


$1.1 million made to the GNWT for outstanding school tax, thus reducing our liabilities.   


 


Delinquent accounts continue to be a significant concern for the town's administration. 


Since 2019, substantial efforts have been made to collect overdue property taxes. This 


has resulted in a reduction of the outstanding amount owed to the town through the 


conduct of yearly property tax auctions. In addition to the property taxes in arrears, a 


considerable number of accounts receivable have also been overdue. The community's 


evacuation and the wildfire in 2023 led to the delay of the delinquent property tax 


auction, which is now scheduled for June 27, 2024. In 2022, the council wrote off $590 


thousand as uncollectable due to the age of the accounts and the statutes of limitations for 


collection. 


Revenues decreased in 2023, coming down from $20.4 million in 2022 to $14.3 million.  


This decrease was primarily due to the community's evacuation and the wildfire in 2023, 


which led to a delay in converting deferred revenue into actual revenue.  Over 48% of the 


Town's revenues are derived from government transfers.  Municipal tax revenues, user 


fees and sale of services decreased by $134 thousand from 2022.  Expenses increased by 


$913 thousand in 2023 to just under $12.7 million.  At the end of 2023, there was an 


operating surplus of $1.61 million. 


The Town generates revenue from several diverse sources. The graph below illustrates 


the various income streams. Revenues from government transfers account for 48% of the 


total, with property taxes accounting for 27%. Water and sewer services contribute 8%, 


Environmental Services account for 4%, and other sources of revenue make up 13%. 
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The chart below illustrates the way the Town spend the funds it received.  The chart 


below demonstrates how the town allocates its funds.  Recreation and Culture Services 


account for 36% of the expenditure, Water and Sewer Services account for 19%, Public 


Works and Transportation Services account for 18%, General Government account for 


16%, Public Safety and Protective Services account for 7%, and Environmental Services 


account for 4%. 
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Capital work in 2023 led to the completion of paving in various locations across the 


community, including the Carl's Drive, Bell Rock, and other areas in the community.  


The Green House Fund from the GWNT was utilized for the installation of electric 


boilers.  The CRC retrofit was completed.  Additionally, significant progress was made 


with the installation and upgrade of water meters and water fill stations.  This was done 


to gather the necessary data to meet the requirements for measuring the economic rate of 


water usage. 


 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the Town of Fort Smith 2023 Audited Financial Statements be approved. 
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING


The accompanying financial statements and other information contained in this report are the responsibility of the
Town Council of the Town of Fort Smith.  Town Council delegates to Administration the responsibility of the
financial statements.


The financial statements are prepared by Administration in accordance with accounting principles recommended by
the Department of Municipal and Community Affairs, based upon the requirements of the Cities, Towns and Villages
Act of the Northwest Territories, and the Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards.   They necessarily include
some amounts that are based on best estimates and judgments of Administration.  When alternate accounting
treatments exist, Administration has chosen those it considers the most appropriate under the circumstances, in order
to ensure that the financial statements are presented fairly, in all respects.


To assist in its responsibility, Administration maintains accounting, budget and other controls to provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are appropriately authorized, that assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded, and
that financial records are relevant, accurate and reliable for the preparation of financial statements.


Town Council carries out its responsibility for review of the financial statements primarily through the Corporate
Services Committee.  The Committee meets regularly with Administration to discuss financial matters, including the
results of audit examinations.  The Committee reports its findings to Town Council for its consideration in approving
the financial statements for issuance.


Town Council has reviewed the financial statements and recommends their approval.  They also met with
Administration and external auditors to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing issues
and financial reporting matters, to ensure that each party is properly discharging their responsibilities and to review
the financial statements and the external auditor's report.


The financial statements have been reported on by Avery Cooper & Co. Ltd., Chartered Professional Accountants, in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards on behalf of the Town of Fort Smith. Avery Cooper
& Co. Ltd. has full and free access to the records of the Town of Fort Smith.


Fred Daniels Date
Mayor


Tracy Thomas Date
Senior Administrative Officer
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Statement I


STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Sunday, December 31, 2023


2023 2022
FINANCIAL ASSETS


Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 12,830,358 $ 13,756,647
Taxes and grants in lieu of taxes receivable (Note 3) 1,100,212 927,788
Trade and other accounts receivable (Note 4) 2,220,999 2,505,105
Inventory for resale - land 694,577 694,577


16,846,146 17,884,117
LIABILITIES


Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7) 908,009 1,936,332
Wages and benefits payable 502,065 401,707
Deposit liabilities 265,807 260,951
Deferred revenue (Note 8) 7,436,874 7,377,724
Long-term debt (Note 9) 545,334 1,040,389
Provision for post-employment benefits 557,723 556,924
Provision for landfill closure (Note 19) 1,083,386 1,032,386


11,299,198 12,606,413


NET FINANCIAL RESOURCES (Statement III) 5,546,948 5,277,704


NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Tangible capital assets (Schedule 1) 50,384,076 49,099,592
Inventory for consumption - land 417,274 417,274
Inventory of supplies 63,201 67,146
Prepaid expenses 129,764 70,241


50,994,315 49,654,253


ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (Note 13) and (Statement II) $ 56,541,261 $ 54,931,957


CONTINGENCIES (Note 20)


Approved:


________________________________________ Mayor


________________________________________ Senior Administrative Officer


See the accompanying notes and schedules.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Statement II


STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2023 2023 2022
Budget Actual Actual


(Unaudited)


REVENUES
Government transfers for operations (Note 14) $ 6,980,585 $ 3,618,224 $ 3,520,508
Government transfers for capital (Note 14) - 3,286,251 9,360,749
Net municipal taxes (Note 11) 3,901,896 3,825,754 3,665,684
User fees and sales of goods 3,358,082 3,117,229 3,412,799
Investment income 10,000 221,426 115,603
Fines, penalties and cost of taxes 160,000 141,519 263,446
Development levies, licences and permits 46,850 59,565 41,776


TOTAL REVENUES 14,457,413 14,269,968 20,380,565


EXPENSES
General Government Services (Schedule 1a) 1,603,559 2,075,020 2,343,039
Public Safety and Protective Services (Schedule 1b) 732,236 908,698 752,555
Public Works and Transportation Services(Schedule 1c) 1,988,657 2,263,599 2,207,253
Recreation and Culture Services (Schedule 1d) 4,246,309 4,541,926 3,970,036
Water and Sewage Services (Schedule 1e) 2,300,949 2,376,930 1,934,429
Environmental Fund (Schedule 1f) 616,779 494,491 540,279


TOTAL EXPENSES (Schedule 8) 11,488,489 12,660,664 11,747,591


ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 2,968,924 1,609,304 8,632,974


ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 54,931,957 54,931,957 46,298,983


ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, END OF YEAR $ 57,900,881 $ 56,541,261 $ 54,931,957


See the accompanying notes and schedules.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Statement III


STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


2023 2023 2022
Budget Actual Actual


(Unaudited)


ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) $ 2,968,924 $ 1,609,304 $ 8,632,974


Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,463,870 1,929,652 1,654,173


Acquisition of tangible capital assets (11,128,900) (3,214,134) (9,799,163)


(Increase)/Decrease in tangible capital assets (9,665,030) (1,284,482) (8,144,990)


Acquisition of inventory for consumption - land - - (67,142)


Consumption of inventory of supplies - 3,945 85,872


Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (129,764) (70,241)


Use of prepaid expenses - 70,241 70,241


INCREASE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (6,696,106) 269,244 506,714


NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 5,277,704 5,277,704 4,770,990


NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, END OF YEAR $ (1,418,402) $ 5,546,948 $ 5,277,704


See the accompanying notes and schedules.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Statement IV


STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2023 2022
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING TRANSACTIONS


Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 1,609,304 $ 8,632,974
Adjustments for non-cash items and changes in accounts:


Accounts receivable 111,682 513,491
Liabilities (other than long-term) 289,927 (3,676,993)
Inventory of supplies 3,945 18,737
Prepaid expense (59,523) -
Amortization expense 1,929,652 1,654,173
Bad debts expense 272,841 439,110


Net cash from operations 4,157,828 7,581,492


CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (Note 25) (4,589,064) (9,620,998)


CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING TRANSACTIONS
Long-term debt repaid (495,055) (483,906)


INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (926,289) (3,055,410)


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 13,756,647 16,812,057


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 12,830,358 $ 13,756,647


See the accompanying notes and schedules.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES


The financial statements of the Town of Fort Smith (the "Town" or "Municipality") are the
representations of management prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada. They are also prepared in accordance with policies prescribed for
municipalities by the Cities, Towns and Villages Act of the Northwest Territories, and by the
Department of Municipal and Community Affairs, Government of the Northwest Territories
(GNWT-MACA).


The Municipality is exempt from income tax under Section 149 of the Income Tax Act (Canada).


Significant aspects of the accounting policies adopted by the Town are as follows:


(a) Reporting Entity


The financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, changes in net
financial assets (debt) and change in financial position of the reporting entity.  This entity
comprises the municipal operations plus all of the organizations that are owned or controlled
by the Town and are, therefore, accountable to the Council for the administration of their
financial affairs and resources. At present, there are no organizations that are owned or
controlled by the Municipality, other than its own management funds (see Segmented
Information below).


Note 11 relating to taxes levied also includes requisitions for education that are not part of
the municipal reporting entity.


Interdepartmental and organizational transactions and balances are eliminated.


The Town receives significant funding from the Government of the Northwest Territories in
the form of operating grants and capital grants.  Administration is of the opinion that
discontinuance of funding would significantly disrupt operations.


(b) Basis of Accounting


The financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.  The accrual
basis of accounting records revenue as it is earned and measurable.  Expenses are
recognized as they are incurred and measurable based upon receipt of goods or services
and/or the legal obligation to pay.


Externally restricted funds and earnings thereon are accounted for as deferred revenue until
used for the purpose specified.  Government transfers for general operations and
water/sewage operations are recognized as revenue in their respective funds.  Government
transfers for capital purposes are accounted for as deferred revenue until the related tangible
capital assets are acquired or constructed or eligible expenses are incurred.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued


(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents


Cash consists of cash on hand and temporary investments.  The Town considers any and all
highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition,
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to insignificant
risk of changes in value, to be cash equivalents.


(d) Use of Estimates


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Public Sector Accounting
Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenditure during the
period.  Where measurement uncertainty exists, the financial statements have been prepared
within reasonable limits of materiality.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.


Significant estimates are used in determining the useful lives of depreciable assets, landfill
closure and post-closure liability, allowance for doubtful accounts, and allocations of
common administrative expenses between funds/programs.


(e) Land held for resale


Land held for resale is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  Cost includes
costs for land acquisition and improvements required to prepare the land for servicing such
as clearing, stripping and leveling charges.  Related development costs incurred to provide
infrastructure such as water and wastewater services, roads, sidewalks and street lighting
are recorded as physical assets under the respective function.


(f) Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Liability


The Town is required to fund the closure of its landfill site and provide for post-closure care
of the facility.  Closure and post-closure activities include the final clay cover, landscaping,
as well as surface and ground water monitoring leachate control, and visual inspection.  The
requirement is being provided for over the estimated remaining life of the landfill site based
on usage.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued


(g) Government Transfers


Government transfers are the transfer of monetary assets or tangible capital assets from a
government for which the government making the transfer does not:


i) receive any goods or services directly in return;
ii) expect to be repaid in future; or
iii) expect a direct financial return.


Operating transfers are recognized as revenue in the period in which the events giving rise to
the transaction occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have
been met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts can be determined.


Capital transfers are initially recognized as deferred revenue and subsequently recognized as
revenue when the related tangible capital assets are acquired or constructed.


(h) Post-Employment Benefits


Contributions for current and past service pension and sick leave benefits are recorded as
expenses in the year in which they become due.


(i) Financial Assets


Financial assets are assets that could be used to discharge existing liabilities or finance
future operations and are not for consumption in the normal course of operations.


(j) Non-Financial Assets


Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in
the provision of services.  They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are
not intended for sale in the normal course of operations.  The change in non-financial assets
during the year, together with the excess of revenues over expenses, provides the Change in
Net Financial Assets (Debt) for the year.


(k) Leases


Leases are classified as capital or operating leases.  Leases which transfer substantially all
the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of property are accounted for as capital leases.
All other leases are accounted for as operating leases and the related lease payments are
charged to expenses as incurred.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued


(l) Inventories


Inventories held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and replacement cost.
Cost is determined on the specific item basis.


Other inventories held for resale are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value with
cost determined by the average cost method.


(m) Tangible Capital Assets


Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts that are directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset.  The cost,
less residual value, of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life as follows:


Years


Buildings, Improvements & Structures 15 - 50
Waste Management Facilities Infrastructure 40 - 50
Parks Infrastructure 15 - 75
Roads 30 - 40
IT and Other Infrastructure 5 - 40
Vehicles 7 - 25


One half year annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition and in the year of
disposal.  Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for
productive use, and includes interest on related debt.


(n) Contributions of Tangible Capital Assets


Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at fair value at the date of
receipt and also are recorded as revenue.


(o) Cultural and Historical Tangible Capital Assets


Works of art for display are not recorded as tangible capital assets but are disclosed.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued


(p) Reserve for Future Expenses


Reserves are established at the discretion of Council or as stipulated requirements to set
aside funds for future operating and capital expenses.  Transfers to and/or from reserves are
reflected as an adjustment to the respective fund and not as revenue or expenses in the
statement of operations.


The Town maintains the following reserves:


i) Reserve for General Operations - to ensure sufficient funds available to replace or
expand the municipal infrastructure, excluding environmental services and utility
infrastructure, as required.


ii) Reserve for Environmental Services - to replace or expand the landfill site as required.


iii) Service Interruption Insurance Reserve -  to have adequate funds available to provide
for the repair and maintenance from the Town's mains to customer's buildings and
provide assistance to customers.


iv) Reserve for Utility Infrastructure Replacement - to ensure sufficient funds available to
replace or expand the municipal utility infrastructure as required.


The balance in each reserve is disclosed in Note 10.


(q) Financial Instruments


The Town's financial instruments are initially recorded at fair value, unless fair value cannot
be reliably determined, and subsequently measured at amortized cost.  The estimated fair
values of these financial instruments are assumed to approximate their carrying amounts due
to the relatively short period to maturity.  Transaction costs are expensed as incurred.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued


(r) Segmented Information


Municipal services are provided by departments and segmented financial information on
their activities is reported in the schedules.  The accounting policies used in these segments
are consistent with those followed in preparation of the financial statements as disclosed in
Note 1.  Revenues not directly attributable to a specific segment are indicated as unallocated
items in Note 16.  The Town allocates certain common expenses to different departments
based on the percentage of equipment owned or directly attributable to each department.
The segments include:


i) General Government Services, which provides internal support to council and other
departments who provide services to its citizens.  These internal departments include
the Senior Administrative Officer, Financial services, Information Technology Support,
and Human Resources.


ii) Public Safety and Protective Services, which provides services to maintain public
order, uphold municipal bylaws and emergency and prevention services related to
firefighting and medical services.


iii) Public Works and Transportation, which provides construction and maintenance of
community assets and transportation planning.


iv) Recreation and Culture Services, which provides services through a recreation and
cultural program.


v) Water and Sewage Services which provides for operations and maintenance related to
water distribution and sewage collection.


vi) Environmental Operating Fund which provides for operations and maintenance related
to solid waste and garbage.


vii) Land Development Fund, which creates plans, programs, and policies required for
community planning, zoning, and subdivision.


NOTE 2 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS


2023 2022


Cash (Note 5) $ 12,830,358 $ 13,756,647


Cash equivalents are short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 3 TAXES AND GRANTS IN LIEU OF TAXES RECEIVABLE


2023 2022


Taxes and grants in lieu $ 849,372 $ 501,726
Arrears taxes 1,808,081 1,811,748


2,657,453 2,313,474
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (1,557,241) (1,385,686)


$ 1,100,212 $ 927,788


NOTE 4 TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE


2023 2022


Municipal and Community Affairs $ 1,632,736 $ 1,577,610
GNWT - Other departments 120,738 3,713


1,753,474 1,581,323


Utilities 300,549 258,493
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (69,920) (17,665)


230,629 240,828


Other 387,865 805,078
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (150,969) (122,124)


236,896 682,954


$ 2,220,999 $ 2,505,105
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 5 DEPOSITS


Source
Deferred
Revenue Reserves


Total
Required
Deposit


Actual Bank
Deposit


Overage/
(Shortfall)


Gas Tax $ 5,611,704 $ - $ 5,611,704 $ 5,338,106 $ (273,598)
Community Public
Infrastructure 1,666,584 - 1,666,584 3,080,258 1,413,674
Reserve for General
Operations - 851,821 851,821 - (851,821)
Service Interruption
Insurance Reserve - 307,238 307,238 307,238 -
Reserve for Utility
Infrastructure Replacement - 3,153,440 3,153,440 - (3,153,440)
Reserve for Environmental
Services - 741,733 741,733 292,483 (449,250)
Daily operations - - - 3,812,273 3,812,273


$ 7,278,288 $ 5,054,232 $12,332,520 $12,830,358 $ 497,838


Deposits comprise: 2023 2022


Gas Tax Current account $ 5,338,106 $ 5,696,995
Community Public Infrastructure Current account 3,080,258 5,608,306
Reserves Current account 599,722 2,062,198
Daily Operations Current account 3,812,272 389,148


$ 12,830,358 $ 13,756,647


NOTE 6 CREDIT FACILITY


The Town has an Operating Line of Credit with the Bank of Montreal in the amount of $100,000.
The Operating Line of Credit bears interest at Prime plus 0.75%. At Sunday, December 31, 2023,
the Operating Line of Credit has a zero balance.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 7 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES


2023 2022


Accounts payable $ 409,804 $ 88,447
Accrued liabilities 411,607 386,361
Tangible Capital Assets payable (Note 12) 86,598 1,461,524


$ 908,009 $ 1,936,332


NOTE 8 DEFERRED REVENUE


2023 2022


Gas Tax $ 5,611,704 $ 5,726,326
Community Public Infrastructure 1,666,584 1,582,697
Slope Stabilization Project - 36,701
Slope Monitoring Project 126,585 -
Branded Signage 32,000 32,000


$ 7,436,874 $ 7,377,724


NOTE 9 LONG-TERM DEBT


2023 2022


Bank of Montreal fixed rate term loan bearing interest at
2.28% per annum, repayable in monthly blended payments of
$42,796. The loan matures in December 2024. $ 545,334 $ 1,040,389


Debenture interest paid in 2023 was $18,498 (2022 - $29,647).


Principal and interest repayments are as follows:


Principal Interest Total


2024 $ 545,334 $ 7,189 $ 552,523
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 10 RESERVES


Reserves for operating and capital activities changed as follows:


Reserves Type 2022 Increases Decreases 2023


Reserve for General
Operations Capital $ 726,821 $ 125,000 $ - $ 851,821


Service Interruption
Insurance Reserve Operating 275,272 32,966 1,000 307,238


Reserve for Utility
Infrastructure Replacement Capital 3,095,440 58,000 - 3,153,440


Reserve for Environmental
Services Capital 518,640 223,093 - 741,733


$ 4,616,173 $ 439,059 $ 1,000 $ 5,054,232


NOTE 11 NET MUNICIPAL TAXATION


2023 2022


Taxes $ 2,717,712 $ 2,629,321
Grants-in-lieu of taxes - GNWT 1,306,664 1,277,687
Grants-in-lieu of taxes - Government of Canada 240,914 219,043
Less: Education requisition (439,536) (460,367)


$ 3,825,754 $ 3,665,684


NOTE 12 EQUITY IN TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS


2023 2022


Tangible Capital Assets (Schedule 1) $ 89,348,255 $ 86,134,121
Accumulated amortization (Schedule 1) (38,964,179) (37,034,529)
Long-term debt (Note 9) (545,334) (1,040,389)
Tangible Capital Assets payable (Note 7) (86,598) (1,461,524)


$ 49,752,144 $ 46,597,679
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 13 ACCUMULATED SURPLUS


Accumulated surplus consists of restricted and unrestricted fund surplus (deficit), reserves and
equity in tangible capital assets as follows:


2023 2022


Unrestricted surplus
General Fund (Schedule 7) $ 1,706,753 $ 3,299,563


Restricted surplus
Utility Operating Fund (104,936) 215,161
Environmental Operating Fund 71,270 141,733
Land Development Fund 61,798 61,648


Total Restricted surplus 28,132 418,542


Reserves
Reserve for General Operations 851,821 726,821
Service Interruption Insurance Reserve 307,238 275,272
Reserve for Utility Infrastructure Replacement 3,153,440 3,095,440
Reserve for Environmental Services 741,733 518,640


Total Reserves 5,054,232 4,616,173


Equity in tangible capital assets 49,752,144 46,597,679


Accumulated surplus $ 56,541,261 $ 54,931,957
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 14 GOVERNMENT TRANSFERS
2023 2022


GOVERNMENT OF CANADA TRANSFERS


Fort Smith Slope Monitoring 2022-2026 $ 33,415 $ -
Fort Smith Slope Stabilization 38,253 -
CWWF - Water Infrastructure Replacement - 427,394
Small Communities Fund - 437,767


71,668 865,161


GOVERNMENT OF THE NORTHWEST
TERRITORIES TRANSFERS


Operational funding:


- Operations and Maintenance 2,263,000 2,190,000
- Water and Sewage 606,000 606,000


2,869,000 2,796,000
Repayable Contributions:


- Sport and Recreation 24,000 24,000
- Youth Centre Initiative 19,286 13,889
- Industry, Tourism and Investment 8,290 21,192
- ECE - After 4 Program - 15,545
- ECE - Library 55,000 63,506
- Low Carbon Economy Fund 285,643 37,125
- Ground Ambulance and Highway Rescue Services 52,064 37,000
- Wastewater Testing Support 47,000 -
- Children and Youth Resiliency 13,636 13,636
- ECE - Small Community Support Program - 215,000
- Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program - 3,469,912
- Canadian Agricultural Partnership - Mission Park 2,000 8,000
- Community Tourism Infrastructure Contribution 46,497 33,626
- ECE Childcare Program grants 402,380 211,835
- Community Tourism Coordinator 50,000 -
- Other Grants 3,900 84,908
- Climate Change Adaptation Plan - 15,997


1,009,696 4,265,171
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 14 GOVERNMENT TRANSFERS, continued


Other Restricted Funding:          2023          2022


- Gas Tax 1,014,000 963,000
- Community Public Infrastructure 1,446,000 1,446,000


2,460,000 2,409,000
- Interest earned 498,862 241,061
- Transfers from (to) Deferred Revenue (4,751) 2,304,864


2,954,111 4,954,925


$ 6,904,475 $ 12,881,257


NOTE 15 ALLOCATED EXPENSES


The Town incurs a number of expenses that are common to the administration of the Town and each
of its Funds.  Accordingly, common expenses are allocated among Funds consistently each year
proportionately on a percentage basis.  Insurance expenses are allocated to Funds based on assessed
building values.  Wages and benefits expenses are allocated based on a percentage of estimated time
spent.


Total insurance expense for the year of $242,422 (2022 - $215,691) is allocated to General
Government, Public Safety and Protective, Public Works and Transportation, Recreation and
Culture, Water and Sewer Services and Environmental Services at $7,167, $16,369, $29,025,
$109,012, $80,544, $305 respectively.  Administration wages and benefits expense totaling
$506,986 (2022 - $312,248) is allocated to the Utility Fund and Environmental Fund at $430,938
and $76,048 respectively.


NOTE 16 UNALLOCATED AMOUNTS


The following revenues were not allocated to the individual segments reported in the schedules:


2023 2022


Municipal and Community Affairs - Operations and
Maintenance $ 2,263,000 $ 2,190,000
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 17 MUNICIPAL PENSION PLAN


Eligible employees of the Town are members of the Northern Employee Benefits Services (NEBS)
Pension Plan (the Plan), a contributory defined benefit plan.  The Plan is administered by NEBS as
part of benefits program providing insurance, health care and pension benefits for employees of
member employers in the North.  NEBS is a member owned, not-for-profit corporation of which the
Town is a member.


Total contributions remitted by the Town to the NEBS Pension Plan were as follows:


2023 2022


Employers' contribution $ 255,491 $ 227,365
Employees' contribution 255,491 227,365


$ 510,982 $ 454,730


Participating employers in the Plan, including the Town are required to make contributions to the
plan of 8% (2022 - $8%)  of pensionable earnings, and to remit employee contributions of 8% (2022
- 8%).  These contributions cover current service costs and a provision for adverse deviation.


The Plan is governed by the Northern Employee Benefits Services Pension Plan Act (in force
October 1, 2015) (the Act) and a Plan text document maintained by the administrator of the Plan.
Both the Act and the Plan text document provide that participating employers are liable for their
share of any funding shortfalls in the Plan as determined on a going concern basis, and on Plan
windup.


The Act and the Plan text document provide any going concern shortfalls, should they arise, are to
be paid down over no more than 15 years and that contribution rates may be increased if necessary
to do so.


Pursuant to the Act, the Plan is exempt from compliance with the Pension Benefits Standards Act,
1985 (PBSA) and is not required to be funded on a solvency basis.


As at January 1, 2023, the NEBS Pension Plan has a preliminary going concern surplus of
$81,300,000  (2022 - $65,900,000) and a funded ratio of 127.0% (2022 - 124.0%).  The Plan serves
3789 employee members and 117 participating employers.


NOTE 18 COMMITMENTS


In the course of normal operations the Town has entered into a multi-year equipment lease.  The
remaining repayment for this contract is as follows:


2024 27,357
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 19 LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POST-CLOSURE LIABILITY


The Town is required to fund the closure of its landfill site and provide for post-closure care of the
facility.  The requirement is being provided for over the estimated life of the landfill site based on
usage.


The estimated remaining useful life expectancy of the landfill site is 50 years.  This is based on the
construction of a new landfill cell every five years, with the landfill having a capacity of 10 cells.


Construction of the first landfill cell begun in 2022.  During the construction of this cell, the existing
waste will be capped.


The main components of the landfill closure plan are capping using selected specific layers of
earthen and synthetic materials based on engineered cap design and implementation of a drainage
management plan.  The post-closure care requirements will involve cap maintenance, installation of
monitoring wells, groundwater monitoring and inspections.


The costs for future environmental assessment and reclamation are unknown.  The remaining
estimated life of the landfill is 50 years and monitoring will be required indefinitely.


Estimates for future landfill closure costs are subject to significant measurement uncertainty.  The
accuracy of the estimated closure costs is expected to improve when engineers determine standards
for closing a section of the landfill.  The liability was increased by $51,000 in the current year (2022
- $51,000).
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 20 CONTINGENCIES


The Town participates in the NWT Association of Communities insurance programs.  Under these
programs the Town could become liable for its proportionate share of any claim losses in excess of
the funds held by the Exchange.  Any liability incurred would be accounted for as a current
transaction in the year the losses are determined.  It is the opinion of the Town that losses are
unlikely to occur.


The Northern Employee Benefits Services Pension Plan is currently in a solvency deficiency
position.  While the Town does not intend to terminate its participation in the Plan for the
foreseeable future, the Town would be obligated, per the NEBS Act, for its share of the solvency
deficiency upon withdrawal.  The Town's obligation, as Plan Sponsor, would be calculated based on
actuarial estimates for all active, deferred and retired employees.


The Town is party to a lawsuit as a defendant with $250,000 as the total claim against the Town,
plus costs. It is the opinion of management that the outcome of the case is unknown as at December
31, 2023.


The Town sued a taxpaper for unpaid municipal services of $900,000. It is the opinion of
management that the taxpayer has agreed to pay although the amount expected to be received is
unknown  as at December 31, 2023.


NOTE 21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS


The Town's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, taxes and grants in lieu of
taxes receivable, trade and other accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
wages and benefits payable, school taxes payable, deposit liabilities, and long-term debt.  It is
management's opinion that the Town is not exposed to significant interest rate, liquidity, market,
currency or cash flow risks arising from these financial statements.


The Town is subject to credit risk with respect to accounts receivable.  Credit risk arises from the
possibility that customers to which the Town provides services may experience financial difficulty
and be unable to fulfill their obligations.  The Town regularly monitors the amounts of outstanding
receivables and initiates collection procedures to minimize credit risk.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 22 BUDGET


The budget information presented in these financial statements was adopted by Council on December
20, 2022 and is unaudited.  Budget amounts have been restated, where applicable, to conform to
Canadian public sector accounting standards.


The following chart reconciles the approved budget with the budget figures as presented in these
financial statements.


2023


Approved Budget:


Revenue: Approved budget $ 15,500,411
Expenses: Approved budget (15,262,419)
Adjustments:
 Tangible Capital Assets 11,128,900
 Capital expenses (11,128,900)
 Transfers between Funds 2,236,003
 Debenture Principal 494,929


Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 2,968,924


NOTE 23 CAPITAL BUDGET
2023


Capital Budget as Approved $ 11,128,900


Tangible Capital Asset Acquisitions (Statement III) $ 11,128,900
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


NOTE 24 CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS


At Sunday, December 31, 2023, the Municipality has entered into the following contribution
agreements with the Government of Canada and GNWT:


Project Term/conditions


Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program -
Conibear Project


The GNWT will pay an amount not exceeding
$365,625. The Federal sources shall not exceed
75% of the total eligible expenditures. The
agreement expires September 1, 2027.


Slope Monitoring 2022-2026 Funding from Crown-Indigenous Relations and
Northern Affairs Canada (CIRNAC). The
agreement expires March 31, 2026.


Conibear Park & Cultural Site Funding from Canadian Northern Economic
Development Agency (CanNor). The agreement
expires March 31, 2025.


Canada's Low Carbon Economy Leadership
Fund


The GNWT will pay an amount not exceeding
$360,000. The Federal sources shall not exceed
75% of the total eligible expenditures. The
agreement expires March 31, 2024.


Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program -
Landfill Expansion Project


The GNWT will pay an amount not exceeding
$1,056,125. The Federal sources shall not
exceed 75% of the total eligible expenditures.
The agreement expires  September 1, 2027.


Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program -
Riverside Park and Lookout Upgrade Project


The GNWT will pay an amount not exceeding
$985,000. The Federal sources shall not exceed
75% of the total eligible expenditures. The
agreement expires September 1, 2027.


Climate Change Adaptation Action Plan to the
Climate Change Preparedness in the North
(CCPN).


Funding from Crown-Indigenous Relations and
Northern Affairs Canada (CIRNAC).
Agreement extended to March 31, 2025.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sunday, December 31, 2023


Future maximum contributions remaining under these agreements are as follows:


ICIP
Conibear


Low Carbon
Economy


ICIP
Landfill


ICIP -
Riverside


Park


CIRNAC -
Slope


Monitoring
CIRNAC -


CCPN


CanNor -
Conbear


Park Total


2024 $ - $ 36,638 $ - $ - $ 214,085 $ 342,947 $ 50,000 $ 643,670
2025 - - - - 109,000 109,000 350,000 568,000
2026 - - - - 1,000 - - 1,000
2027 283,422 - 1,056,125 985,000 - - - 2,324,547


$ 283,422 $ 36,638 $ 1,056,125 $ 985,000 $ 324,085 $ 451,947 $ 400,000 $ 3,537,217


NOTE 25 SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION


During the year, the Town acquired Tangible Capital Assets totaling $3,214,134 (2022 -
$9,799,165) of which $86,598 (2022 - $1,461,524) is included in Accounts Payable and Accruals,
and $3,127,536 (2022 - $8,337,641) is paid cash.  Accordingly, non-cash capital transactions are
excluded from the Statement of Cash Flow.


NOTE 26 STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS OUTSTANDING


The Town has no method of determining the total consumption of water used by the Town and no
calculation of the economic rates to be charged for Water is performed.   This contravenes the Water
and Sewage contribution agreement with MACA.
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 1


TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


Land


Buildings,
Improvements
& Structures


Waste
Management


Facilities
Infrastructure


Parks
Infrastructure Roads


IT and Other
Infrastructure Vehicles


Assets Under
Construction 2023 2022


Cost:
Balance, opening $ 3,520,600 $ 38,873,883 $ 6,073,750 $ 2,264,487 $ 16,896,953 $ 7,970,110 $ 5,897,898 $ 4,636,440 $ 86,134,121 $ 76,415,606
Acquisition of tangible
capital assets - 4,800,955 - 9,624 638,981 25,534 524,795 (2,785,755) 3,214,134 9,799,163
Disposal of tangible
capital assets - - - - - - - - - (80,648)


Balance, closing 3,520,600 43,674,838 6,073,750 2,274,111 17,535,934 7,995,644 6,422,693 1,850,685 89,348,255 86,134,121
Accumulated
amortization:
Balance, opening - 21,021,193 6,516,114 998,208 4,254,716 894,984 3,349,314 - 37,034,529 35,461,004
Annual amortization - 796,099 70,034 53,088 481,245 162,433 366,753 - 1,929,652 1,654,173
Reallocation - - (2,261,398) - 2,261,398 - - - - -
Accumulated
amortization on disposals - - - - - - - - - (80,648)


Balance, closing - 21,817,292 4,324,749 1,051,296 6,997,358 1,057,417 3,716,067 - 38,964,179 37,034,529


Net book value $ 3,520,600 $ 21,857,546 $ 1,749,001 $ 1,222,815 $ 10,538,576 $ 6,938,227 $ 2,706,626 $ 1,850,685 $ 50,384,076 $ 49,099,592
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 1a


SCHEDULE OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES, GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2023 2023 2022
Budget Actual Actual


(Unaudited)
REVENUES
Net Municipal taxes $ 3,901,896 $ 3,825,754 $ 3,665,684
Government transfers 5,628,000 5,549,251 11,932,845
Investment income 10,000 221,426 115,603
Fines, penalties and cost of taxes 160,000 141,519 263,446
Development levies, licences and permits 46,850 59,565 41,776


9,746,746 9,797,515 16,019,354
EXPENSES
Council Honoraria 164,560 165,608 163,203
Council Travel 13,500 7,028 13,731
Council Materials 19,500 30,688 37,239
Salaries and Benefits 628,597 607,148 795,873
Recruitment/Removal Expense - 27,202 -
Contracted costs - 78,990 322
Bank and Interest Charges 30,000 47,654 31,191
Audit and Legal Fees 105,000 208,834 188,752
Freight 5,000 9,888 9,943
Insurance 7,500 7,166 8,257
Materials and Supplies 30,500 27,681 38,499
Business Travel and Expense - 260 -
NWTAM Membership Fees 8,500 9,075 10,089
Advertising 37,350 45,320 12,492
Grants to Community Groups 35,000 - 35,000
Computer Hardware & Software 62,550 69,737 78,802
Equipment Purchase & Rental 18,000 11,803 8,914
Communications 21,000 28,229 28,645
Admin. Buildings Fuel 19,964 12,717 12,951
Admin. Buildings Electricity 15,828 10,669 11,759
Admin. Buildings Municipal Services 1,840 5,226 3,957
Admin. Buildings O & M 8,000 3,428 9,839
Equipment O & M 6,500 1,722 10,017
Miscellaneous 4,000 93,194 18,508
Staff Training 65,000 64,182 85,694
Bad Debts 15,000 272,841 440,873
Election Costs 20,000 - 10,410
Tax Relief Program 189,246 181,115 222,885
Interest on Long-term Debt 18,624 18,498 29,647
Amortization 53,000 29,117 25,547
Total Expenses 1,603,559 2,075,020 2,343,039


Excess (deficiency) of Revenue over Expenses $ 8,143,187 $ 7,722,495 $ 13,676,315
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 1b


SCHEDULE OF EXPENSES, PUBLIC SAFETY AND PROTECTIVE SERVICES
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2023 2023 2022
Budget Actual Actual


(Unaudited)


EXPENSES
Salaries and Benefits $ 411,000 $ 496,487 $ 378,497
Materials and Supplies 122,350 131,234 105,259
Highway Rescue 37,000 30,104 36,841
Communications 17,300 19,763 20,235
Heating (Fire Hall) 15,116 13,915 22,698
Electricity (Fire Hall) 13,809 12,586 10,865
Water and Sewage 2,511 6,298 5,930
Vehicle Fuel 8,850 11,482 7,185
Equipment - O & M 3,000 569 3,436
General Insurance 15,300 16,369 15,420
Amortization 86,000 169,891 146,189


Total Expenses $ 732,236 $ 908,698 $ 752,555
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 1c


SCHEDULE OF EXPENSES, PUBLIC WORKS AND TRANSPORTATION SERVICES
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2023 2023 2022
Budget Actual Actual


(Unaudited)


EXPENSES
Salaries and Benefits $ 1,107,847 $ 1,294,617 $ 1,123,414
Materials and Supplies 150,250 74,087 105,826
Communication 9,500 8,537 8,451
Street Lighting 59,383 25,324 41,048
Heating Fuel 44,206 44,473 47,802
Electricity 14,047 13,786 11,388
Building - O & M 11,000 3,329 37,210
Water and Sewage 4,498 5,710 5,929
Equipment Repairs and Maintenance 43,200 49,744 192,628
Equipment - Fuel 82,726 90,036 84,726
Miscellaneous 20,000 2,312 2,520
Insurance 22,000 29,025 23,882
Equipment Lease 50,000 34,701 37,898
Recovery from Other Funds (80,000) (80,000) (80,000)
Amortization 450,000 667,918 564,531


Total Expenses $ 1,988,657 $ 2,263,599 $ 2,207,253


27


Draft for discussion purposes only







TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 1d


SCHEDULE OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES, RECREATION AND CULTURE SERVICES
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2023 2023 2022
Budget Actual Actual


(Unaudited)


REVENUES
User fees and sales of goods $ 1,370,092 $ 1,375,854 $ 1,232,199
Other Gov't transfers 776,585 749,224 342,411


Total Revenues 2,146,677 2,125,078 1,574,610


EXPENSES
Salaries and Benefits 2,612,504 2,610,498 2,207,698
Insurance 88,000 109,012 98,608
Materials and Supplies 178,205 148,596 155,492
Travel 1,000 1,074 -
Special Event Days 48,636 79,615 84,109
Advertising 37,100 57,248 37,779
Communications 22,200 25,734 23,260
Building Heating Fuel 280,410 277,145 230,814
Electricity 298,677 327,035 276,641
Water and Sewage 5,877 8,997 8,399
Building Repairs and Maintenance 97,700 68,926 46,818
Miscellaneous 15,300 48,833 32,350
Grants to Groups - - 10,000
Equipment Repairs and Maintenance 56,950 189,409 70,942
SCES Program Expenses 182,750 - 182,906
Amortization 321,000 589,804 504,220


Total Expenses 4,246,309 4,541,926 3,970,036


Excess (deficiency) of Revenue over Expenses $ (2,099,632) $ (2,416,848) $ (2,395,426)
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 1e


SCHEDULE OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES, WATER AND SEWER SERVICES
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2023 2023 2022
Budget Actual Actual


(Unaudited)


REVENUES
GNWT - Transfers $ 576,000 $ 606,000 $ 606,000
Private 1,226,822 1,061,770 1,356,618
W/S Interruption - - 41,179
Other 6,124 36,372 11,112


Total Revenues 1,808,946 1,704,142 2,014,909


EXPENSES
Salaries and Benefits 566,303 547,023 481,781
Vehicle Repairs and Maintenance 52,216 48,049 48,961
Insurance 60,000 80,544 66,787
Buildings Operations and Maintenance 8,664 6,348 13,991
Electricity 77,451 62,267 49,895
Sewage Pumpouts 11,600 7,635 11,899
Sewage Lagoon 21,916 21,916 21,811
Materials and Supplies 16,550 7,982 13,267
Staff Training 10,000 417 7,692
Bad Debts (Recoveries) - - (1,763)
Contract Services 26,000 - 17,083
Water Delivery 112,897 242,040 82,350
Miscellaneous 8,500 4,183 -
Water treatment plant operations and maintenance 323,044 385,449 382,364
Allocations from Other Funds 493,938 493,938 328,411
Amortization 511,870 469,139 409,898


Total Expenses 2,300,949 2,376,930 1,934,427


Excess (deficiency) of Revenue over Expenses $ (492,003) $ (672,788) $ 80,482
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 1f


SCHEDULE OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES, ENVIRONMENTAL OPERATING FUND
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2023 2023 2022
Budget Actual Actual


(Unaudited)


REVENUES
Levies $ 755,044 $ 643,083 $ 770,791


Total Revenues 755,044 643,083 770,791


EXPENSES
Salaries and benefits 324,558 280,389 277,761
General insurance 3,000 305 2,737
Material, goods and supplies 63,173 54,539 28,626
Contract services 40,000 11,425 112,534
Provision for landfill closure 51,000 51,000 51,000
Allocations from Other Funds 93,048 93,048 63,837
Amortization 42,000 3,785 3,785


Total Expenses 616,779 494,491 540,280


Excess (deficiency) of Revenue over Expenses $ 138,265 $ 148,592 $ 230,511
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 1g


SCHEDULE OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES, LAND DEVELOPMENT FUND
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2023 2023 2022
Budget Actual Actual


(Unaudited)


REVENUES
Lot leases- standard leases $ - $ 150 $ 900


Total Revenues - 150 900


EXPENSES


Excess (deficiency) of Revenue over Expenses $ - $ 150 $ 900
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 2


GAS TAX EXPENDITURE REPORT
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2005 - 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total
Funding
Opening balance $ - $ 2,282,690 $ 3,559,276 $ 5,216,823 $ 5,726,326 $ -
Annual Gas Tax Allocation 10,032,595 1,369,500 1,876,000 963,000 1,014,000 15,255,095
Interest earned 120,502 31,530 20,815 105,404 275,874 554,125


10,153,097 3,683,720 5,456,091 6,285,227 7,016,200 15,809,220


Eligible Project Category Expenses
Capacity building - staff training 54,468 - - - - 54,468
Landfill site improvements
- site upgrades 90,972 - - 20,551 - 111,523
- groundwater monitoring system 18,609 - - - - 18,609
GIS equipment and software 24,714 - - - - 24,714
Water/Sewer system expenses 305,053 - - - - 305,053
ICSP Plan / Consultant 200,795 - - - - 200,795
 Water and Sewer System Upgrades 709,734 - - 531,996 351,015 1,592,745
Paving program 2,958,329 - - - - 2,958,329
Lift stations 259,875 15,100 - - - 274,975
Water delivery truck 178,198 - - - - 178,198
Water Delivery Truck (less insurance
proceeds) - 82,105 - - - 82,105
Chemical room expansion 39,692 - - - - 39,692
Sidewalk and trail extensions 220,435 - - - - 220,435
Fire hydrants 47,378 - - - - 47,378
Excavated Landfill Site 29,989 - - - - 29,989
Sidewalks 123,008 - - 1,650 - 124,658
Water Main repairs 836,472 - - - - 836,472
Trail Extension 230,811 - - - - 230,811
Tire Recycling 21,525 - - - - 21,525
Burn Pit Divider 2,909 - - - - 2,909
Water Treatment Plant upgrade 156,187 - - 97,600 73,357 327,144
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 2


GAS TAX EXPENDITURE REPORT - continued
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2005 - 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total


Drainage 89,484 - 17,867 10,140 (17,867) 99,624
Engineering Services 8,105 2,143 - - - 10,248
W & S Infrastructure Replacement 660,522 (173,106) 154,598 (253,876) - 388,138
Vacuum Truck Replacement 440 187,360 - - - 187,800
Westgrove Paving 181,944 - - - - 181,944
Waste Reduction Initiative 23,974 - - - - 23,974
Water Treatment Plant Heating System 20,614 - 17,203 - (8,330) 29,487
Utility Infrastructure - 6,980 - - - 6,980
Environmental Studies 36,621 3,862 12,739 - (16,601) 36,621
Tools Van - - 36,111 - (36,111) -
 Sewage Lagoon Desludge - - - 71,565 7,587 79,152
 Water Truck Fill Station - - - 38,500 25,533 64,033
 Main Lift station upgrade - - - 40,775 387,681 428,456
Completion of Road Paving - - - - 638,982 638,982
Energy Upgrades - - 750 - (750) -
Paving Overlay 197,050 - - - - 197,050
Sewer Flusher 142,500 - - - - 142,500


7,870,407 124,444 239,268 558,901 1,404,496 10,197,516


Transfer to Deferred Revenue $ 2,282,690 $ 3,559,276 $ 5,216,823 $ 5,726,326 $ 5,611,704 $ 5,611,704
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 3


COMMUNITY PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE FUND
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2008 - 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total
Funding
Opening balance $ - $ 4,153,448 $ 4,521,214 $ 4,672,071 $ 1,582,697 $ -
Annual CPI Allocation 13,505,320 1,251,000 1,827,000 1,446,000 1,446,000 19,475,320
Interest earned 192,508 50,648 27,686 135,657 222,988 629,487


13,697,828 5,455,096 6,375,900 6,253,728 3,251,685 20,104,807
Expenses
Mobile equipment 154,900 - - - - 154,900
Municipal Infrastructure 25,058 - - - - 25,058
Utility Infrastructure 449,785 - - - - 449,785
Recreation Infrastructure 144,472 - - - - 144,472
Emergency Infrastructure 324,667 - - - - 324,667
Paving program 1,916,892 - - - - 1,916,892
Tower pines lift station 54,135 - - - - 54,135
Sewer system upgrade 600,166 - - - - 600,166
Town office upgrade 116,248 - - - - 116,248
Computer upgrades 201,390 6,020 - - - 207,410
Asphalt Hot Tar repair unit for public
works 48,444 - - - - 48,444
Recreation - under $10,000 15,382 - - - - 15,382
Alternate heat source for water plant 60,000 - - - - 60,000
Pickup truck for public works 25,490 - - - - 25,490
Fire hall repairs 23,473 - - - - 23,473
Fire services equipment 66,847 - - - - 66,847
Animal shelter 22,325 - - 37,756 - 60,081
Arena upgrades/additions 12,036 7,434 - - - 19,470
Track and field project 315,865 - - - - 315,865
Library 41,983 - - - - 41,983
Bobcats 27,674 24,313 15,167 16,454 - 83,608
Community Services master plan 8,327 34,832 - - - 43,159
Sidewalks and trails 15,215 - - - - 15,215
Minor - under $10,000 35,434 189 - - - 35,623
RCC Front Doors 72,320 - - - - 72,320
General Plan & Zoning Bylaw Reviews 62,132 - - - - 62,132
Garbage Compactor 184,325 - - - - 184,325
Community Centre - Air Handling 200,000 - - - - 200,000
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 3


COMMUNITY PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE FUND - continued
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2008 - 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total


Salt Shed Replacement 203,984 - - - - 203,984
Animal Shelter Upgrade 34,158 - - - - 34,158
Gym floor refinish 41,340 - - - - 41,340
Portable Stage 127,974 - - - - 127,974
Building Energy Audits 10,855 - - - - 10,855
Water License Compliance Issues 73,530 - - - - 73,530
Track development (Tennis Court
resurfacing) - 12,285 - - - 12,285
Environmental Studies 55,297 - - 10,106 25,809 91,212
Parks and Playground 111,307 - 346,431 80,914 - 538,652
Website Development 38,648 - - - - 38,648
Arena Renovation Project 2,330,830 - - - - 2,330,830
Grader Upgrades - - 60,662 - - 60,662
Fire Abatement 71,522 - - 10,214 15,097 96,833
Street Lighting 56,519 - - - - 56,519
Strategic Marketing Plan - - 47,571 - - 47,571
Water Replacement Vehicle 66,207 - - - - 66,207
RCC HVAC System 124,000 - - - - 124,000
Waste Reduction Initiative 22,991 - - - - 22,991
Hotsi/Steamers - - 65,861 - - 65,861
Desludge Lagoon 34,500 - - - - 34,500
Trails Development - - 83,134 - - 83,134
IT Evergreen 48,541 1,257 17,258 5,914 10,263 83,233
W & S Infrastructure Replacement 315,896 713,201 390,761 341,458 - 1,761,316
RCC Electronic Sign 30,008 - - - - 30,008
RCC Master Plan 22,841 - - - - 22,841
Landfill 79,039 - - - 384,414 463,453
Garbage Bins 20,550 - - - - 20,550
Snowboard Park 49,050 - - - - 49,050
Downtown Development 39,166 20,963 79,129 26,885 - 166,143
Recreation Centre 120,110 100,498 499,357 - - 719,965
Pool Retrofit - - - - 84,885 84,885
 Curling Plant Upgrade - - - - 208,250 208,250
Communication Equipment/Danmax - - 3,160 - - 3,160
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 3


COMMUNITY PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE FUND - continued
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2008 - 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total


Fire Hydrant/Precision - - 14,751 - 64,941 79,692
Vehicles - Fleet 154,476 - - - - 154,476
Flat Deck Truck - - 80,587 - - 80,587
 IT Upgrade Plan - - - 8,758 26,598 35,356
 Energy Plan Update - - - 12,375 95,965 108,340
 Transportation Master Plan - - - 74,051 - 74,051
 Communication Equipment
(evergreening) - - - 46,761 - 46,761
 Recreation Program Equipment - - - 9,920 9,624 19,544
 Tractor - - - 85,726 - 85,726
 Riding Mower - - - 18,663 - 18,663
 Completion of Road Paving - - - 2,393,158 - 2,393,158
 Multi-hogg maintenance vehicle - - - 248,992 26,953 275,945
Cemetry Expansion - - - 27,565 - 27,565
 RCC Power Backup - - - 14,740 7,370 22,110
 CRC Renovations - - - 708,799 454,765 1,163,564
 Conibear Park Development - - - 33,341 745 34,086
 Asset Management System - - - 12,500 3,900 16,400
 Dump Truck - - - 181,884 - 181,884
 Sand Spreader - - - 41,750 - 41,750
 Municipal Service buildings - - - - 17,500 17,500
Tools Van - - - - 36,111 36,111
Water Treatment Plant Heating System - - - - 8,330 8,330
Drainage - - - - 17,867 17,867
Traffic Plan Review - - - - 21,790 21,790
Skid Replacement Program - - - - 33,889 33,889
Engineering Services - - - 23,773 1,671 25,444
Hazardous Cleanup at the Dump - - - 170,124 - 170,124
Human Resources Projects - - - 22,450 12,864 35,314
Boat Launch Upgrade - - - 6,000 - 6,000
 Corporate Services Software - - - - 15,500 15,500


36,056 12,890 - - - 48,946


9,544,380 933,882 1,703,829 4,671,031 1,585,101 18,438,223


Transfer to Deferred Revenue $ 4,153,448 $ 4,521,214 $ 4,672,071 $ 1,582,697 $ 1,666,584 $ 1,666,584
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 4


CLEAN WATER AND WASTEWATER FUND
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total
Funding
Annual CWWF Allocation $ 771,851 $ 1,367,751 $ 1,172,673 $ 427,394 $ - $ 3,739,669


Expenses
W & S Infrastructure Replacement 771,851 1,367,751 1,172,673 427,394 - 3,739,669


$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 5


INVESTING IN CANADA INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2022 2023 Total
Funding
Annual ICIP Allocation $ 3,469,912 $ - $ 3,469,912


Expenses
Road Upgrades 3,387,709 - 3,387,709
Conibear Park 82,203 - 82,203


3,469,912 - 3,469,912


$ - $ - $ -


38


Draft for discussion purposes only







TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 6


SMALL COMMUNITIES FUND
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2020 2021 2022 2023 Total
Funding
Annual SCF Allocation $ 301,493 $ 1,739,740 $ 437,767 $ - $ 2,479,000


301,493 1,739,740 437,767 - 2,479,000


Expenses
Recreation Centre 301,493 1,739,740 437,767 - 2,479,000


$ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 7


CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


General Fund
Utility


Operating Fund
Environmental
Operating Fund


Land
Development


Fund


Equity in
Tangible


Capital Assets Reserve Fund 2023 2022


Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 2,133,350 $ (672,788) $ 148,592 $ 150 $ - $ - $ 1,609,304 $ 8,632,973
Net Interfund Transfers


(To) from Water and Sewer Fund 26,482 (26,482) - - - - - -
(To) from Environmental Fund (253) - 253 - - - - -
(To) from Capital Fund:


Purchases (3,214,134) - - - 3,214,134 - - -
Amortization 1,456,730 469,139 3,785 - (1,929,654) - - -
Debt repayment (495,055) - - - 495,055 - - -
TCA payable (1,374,930) - - - 1,374,930 - - -


(To) from Reserve Funds (125,000) (89,966) (223,093) - - 438,059 - -


Change in fund balance (1,592,810) (320,097) (70,463) 150 3,154,465 438,059 1,609,304 8,632,973


Fund balance, beginning of year 3,299,563 215,161 141,733 61,648 46,597,679 4,616,173 54,931,957 -


Fund balance, end of year $ 1,706,753 $ (104,936) $ 71,270 $ 61,798 $ 49,752,144 $ 5,054,232 $ 56,541,261 $ 8,632,973


RESERVES CONSIST OF: 2022 Increases Decreases 2023
Reserve for General Operations $ 726,821 $ 125,000 $ - $ 851,821
Service Interruption Insurance Reserve 275,272 32,966 1,000 307,238
Reserve for Utility Infrastructure


Replacement 3,095,440 58,000 - 3,153,440
Reserve for Environmental Services 518,640 223,093 - 741,733


$ 4,616,173 $ 439,059 $ 1,000 $ 5,054,232


GENERAL FUND CONSISTS OF: 2023 2022
Unfunded expenses to be funded from future revenues:
Provision for landfill closure $ (1,083,386) $ (1,032,386)
Provision for post-employment benefits (557,723) (556,924)
Unrestricted surplus 3,347,862 4,888,873


$ 1,706,753 $ 3,299,563
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 8


EXPENSES BY OBJECT
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


2023 2023 2022
Budget Actual Actual


(Unaudited)


Advertising $ 79,450 $ 104,836 $ 53,992
Audit and Legal Fees 105,000 208,834 188,752
Amortization 1,463,870 1,929,654 1,654,170
Bad Debts (Recovery) 15,000 272,841 439,110
Bank and Interest Charges 30,000 47,654 31,191
Building O & M 130,900 88,547 130,022
Buildings Electricity 481,693 472,436 412,609
Buildings Fuel 520,046 555,613 519,797
Business Travel and Expense 1,000 1,334 -
Communications 79,200 93,139 90,891
Contracted Services 66,000 90,415 129,939
Council Honoraria 164,560 165,608 163,203
Council Materials 19,500 30,688 37,239
Computer Hardware & Software 62,550 69,737 78,802
Election costs 20,000 - 10,410
Equipment Purchase & Rental 68,000 46,504 46,812
Freight 11,500 14,638 15,597
Grants to Groups 35,000 - 35,000
Insurance 195,800 242,421 215,691
Landfill closure 51,000 51,000 51,000
Material and Supplies 482,855 382,122 410,884
Council Travel 13,500 7,028 13,731
Miscellaneous 39,300 144,339 53,378
Other Expenditures 656,971 475,624 703,783
Removal Expense - 27,202 -
Salaries and Benefits 5,744,906 6,039,793 5,318,504
Staff Training 77,000 64,599 93,386
Subscriptions and Memberships 8,500 9,075 10,089
Vehicle Fuel 125,256 142,859 138,762
Vehicle O & M 217,966 348,654 364,287
Water and Sewage 522,166 533,470 336,560


Total Expenses $ 11,488,489 $ 12,660,664 $ 11,747,591
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TOWN OF FORT SMITH
Schedule 9


SALARIES, HONORARIA AND TRAVEL PAID TO MAYOR AND COUNCIL
For the Year Ended Sunday, December 31, 2023


Position Salary Honoraria Travel Total


Mayor Daniels $ 66,650 $ - $ 48 $ 66,698


Councillor Couvrette 6,000 3,900 - 9,900


Councillor Pischinger 6,000 3,800 - 9,800


Councillor Campbell 6,000 3,500 - 9,500


Councillor Jackson 14,100 3,500 - 17,600


Councillor Korol 6,250 3,600 3,410 13,260


Councillor Beaulieu 6,000 3,700 - 9,700


Councillor Macdonald 8,250 3,000 3,316 14,566


Councillor Tuckey 6,000 3,900 - 9,900


$ 125,250 $ 28,900 $ 6,774 $ 160,924
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CHQ # SUPPLIER Description  AMOUNT DEPT
41888 BANK OF MONTREAL PAYMENT ON MASTERCARD -SAO $2,418.08 TOWNHALL


41889 CASCADE PUBLISHING LTD. PURCHASE PRODUCT $111.04 POOL


41890 GRIMSHAW FREIGHT $262.51 WATER PLANT


41891 PAUL KAESER'S STORES LTD GROCIERS $6,729.65 EDO/DAYCARE/LIBRARY


41892 LOU'S SMALL ENGINE SUPPLIES $67.18 FACILITIES


41893 LINK HARDWARE MONTHLY SUPPLIES $1,812.78 FACILITIES/FIRE DEPT/WTP


41894 NORTHWESTEL INC. MONTHLY INTERNET $629.75 TOWNHALL/FIRE DEPT/WTP


41895 PETTY CASH TOWN HALL PETTY CASH $239.90 TOWNHALL


41896 TOWN OF FORT SMITH MONTHLY UTILITIES $1,978.70 TOWN HALL BUILDINGS


41897 FREUND BUILDING SUPPLIES MONTH SUPPLIES $617.76 PW/FACILITIES


41898 XEROX CANADA MONTHLY SERIVCE INVOICE $1,583.27 TOWNHALL


41899 RECEIVER GENERAL JULY 12, 2024 TAX/CPP/EI $62,725.23 PAYROLL


41900 RECEIVER GENERAL JUNE 28,2024 TAX/CPP/EI $279.26 PAYROLL


41901 PUBLIC ERVICE ALLIANCE OF CANADA UNION DUES JUNE 28, 2024 $26.99 PAYROLL


41902 TK ELEVATOR LIMITED MONTHLY ELEVATOR INSPECTION $1,557.30 RECREATION


41903 GNWT TAXATION JUNE DEDUCTIONS $31.82 PAYROLL


41904 NORTHWEN STORE BABY SUPPLIES $7.60 DAY CARE


41905 NORTHWESTERN AIR LEASE FREIGHT $148.84 WATER TREATMENT PLANT


41906 NEBS PENSION MONTHLY PENSION $48,108.16 PAYROLL


41907 STAND ALONE ENERGY SYSTEMS LTD NWT PUBLIC UTILITIES BOARD MEETING $3,300.00 TOWNHALL


41908 TERRY'S CARPENTRY SERVICE MONTHLY RENT FOR 38 YORK $2,940.00 FIRE HALL


41909 TDC CONTRACTING LTD. MATERIAL AND SUPPLIES AND CARDLOCK $5,067.03 PW/FACILITIES/WTP/FIRE DEPT


41910 WESCLEAN NORTHERN SALES LTD. FREIGHT $30.57 FACILITIES


41911 MASKWA ENGINEERING LTD. CAPITAL PROJECTS $21,925.05 TOWNHALL


41912 NEBS GROUP INSURANCE FUND MONTHLY INSURANCE AND HEALTH BENEFITS $19,352.86 PAYROLL


41913 DILLON CONSULTING GENERAL PLAN AND ZONING BYLAW $3,419.33 TOWNHALL


41914 INFOSAT MONTHLY SAT PHONE $234.55 PROTECTIVE SERVICES


41915 RDV MECHNICAL REPAIR AND SERVICES $1,818.14 PW/FACILITIES


41916 ARCTIC ALARM MONTHLY ALARM MONITORING ARENA AND REC $119.60 ARENA/REC


41917 MCLENNAN ROSS GENERAL LABOUR RELATIONS $1,698.38 TOWNHALL


41918 FIELDS STORE MATERIAL AND SUPPLIES $52.90 RECREATION


41919 HACH SLAES AND SERVICES CANADA LP SUPPLIES $305.55 WATER TREATMENT PLANT


41920 IDEXX LABORATORIES CANADA LP SUPPLIES $1,747.20 WATER TREATMENT PLANT


41921 HAY RIVER HEAVY TRUCKS MED OXYGEN REFILL $336.00 FIRE HALL


41922 AURORA FORD REPAIRS AND PURCHASE TOWNHALL VEHICLE $44,463.17 TOWNHAL/PW


41923 DEBBIES SEWING NAME BADGES $184.80 FIRE HALL


41924 CLEANFLOW UTILITY SUPPLY COMPANY PURCHASE MATERIAL $223.39 WATER TREATMENT PLANT


41925 NSIXTY TRADING COMPANY LTD MATERIAL/SUPPLIES/IT SERVICES/SUBSCRIPTIONS $8,007.09 TOWNHALL/FIRE DEPT/RECREATION


41926 CVS MIDWEST TAPE PURCHASE DVDS $328.00 LIBRARY


41927 STAFF REPLACE LOST CHEQUE FOR PAYROLL $803.85 PAYROLL


41928 TIMBER FALLEN INC SERVICE AND REPAIR $12,625.00 PW/WTP


41929 ENERSTAR RENTAL AND SERVICES LTD. MONTHLY STARLINK RENTAL $554.40 FIRE HALL


41930 CHAMPION COMMERIAL PRODUCTS INC. PURCHASE PLAGS $1,866.06 PUBLIC WORKS


41931 BLACK PRESS MEDIA RAW WATER INTAKE AND MAIN LIFT STATION $2,192.60 TOWNHALL


41932 SKL CONSULTING LTD PROJECT MANAGEMENT SERVICES $18,190.86 TOWNHALL


41933 THE RESPONSE TEAM INC. ICS402 COURSE ABD TRAINING $742.50 TOWNHALL


41934 MONSTER RECREATION PRODUCTS MATERIAL $1,036.52 FACILITIES


41935 LMAR GROUP LTD. SERVICES WITH CASE BROWNLEE LLP $6,652.58 TOWNHALL


41936 AECOM CANADA LIMITED RAW WATER LS AND SEWAGE LS $40,080.20 WATER TREATMENT PLANT


41937 BANK OF MONTREAL JUNE PAYMENT FOR DIRECTOR OF CS $5,000.00 TOWNHALL


41938 BANK OF MONTREAL JUNE PAYMENT FOR DIRECTOR OF CORP. $2,000.00 TOWNHALL


41939 BANK OF MONTREAL JUNE PAYMENT FOR SAO $2,200.00 TOWNHALL


41940 BANK OF MONTREAL JUNE PAYMENT FOR DIRECTOR OF MS $1,000.00 TOWNHALL


41941 LAND OWNER PROPERTY FAX REFUND $1,299.84 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE


41942 TDC CONTRACTING LTD. MATERIAL AND SUPPLIES $3,243.97 PW/PROTECTIVE SERVICE/ BYLAW


41943 CASCADE PUBLISHING LTD. POOL POSTERS $26.25 POOL


TOWN OF FORT SMITH


ACCOUNTS PAID LIST


FOR THE PERIOD ENDING  JULY 2024







41944 PAUL KAESER'S STORES LTD GROCIERS/SNACKS/SUPPLIES $2,171.99 DAY CARE/TOWN HALL/FIRE HALL


41945 LOU'S SMALL ENGINE REFILL PROPANE $273.00 PUBLIC WORKS


41946 LINK HARDWARE MATERIAL AND SUPPLIES $1,152.75 Rec/ PUBLIC WORKS


41947 NORTHWESTEL INC MONTHLY INTERNET AND PHONE $5,805.49 REC/PW/TOWN HALL


41948 NWT POWER CORP. MONTHLY POWER USAGE $33,130.17 TOWN HALL/FIREHALL/REC/PW/WTP


41949 ESTABLISHMENT RECORDS CANADA DAY EXTRA SOUND CHECK $80.00 EDO 


41950 WALLY'S DRUG STORE SUPPLIES $24.96 DAYCARE


41951 TOWN OF FORT SMITH UTILITIES AND DEDUCTIONS $988.98 REC/PARK/AR


41952 RECEIVER GENERAL TAX/CPP/EI JULY 26,2024 $58,129.38 PAYROLL


41953 PSAC MONTHLY UNION DUES $6,116.02 PAYROLL


41954 GNWT-TAXATION JUNE PAYROLL TAX DEDUCTIONS $8,592.82 PAYROLL


41955 NORTHERN STORE GROCERIES/SUPPLIES $242.78 DAYCARE/POOL/LIBRARY


41956 BRODART LIBRARY DVD $95.66 LIBRARY


41957 GLOBALSTAR MONTHLY SAT PHONE $127.77 TOWN HALL


41958 HIGH COUNTRY REFRIGERATION AC UNITS SERVICED $1,552.96 TOWN HALL


41959 TDC CONTRACTING LTD. SUPPLIES $120.46 FIRE HALL


41960 AURORA TPI TRAVEL HR TRAVEL AND ACCOMODATION $3,553.61 TOWN HALL  


41961 WESCLEAN NORTHERN SALES LTD. MATERIAL AND SUPPLIES $2,224.93 FIRE HALL/ REC


41962 NU MECHANICAL REPAIRS AND MAINTENCE ARENA $4,725.00 ARENA 


41963 JOAN'S HEALTH AND FITNESS SUMMER CAMP TENNIS SESSION $90.00 RECREATION


41964 RDV MECHNICAL REPAIRS AND MAINTENCE GARBAGE TRUCK $3,742.20 PUBLIC WORKS


41965 MCLENNAN ROSS LABOUR RELATIONS $2,138.33 TOWN HALL


41966 FIELDS STORE MATERIAL $50.00 LIBRARY


41967 HACH SLAES AND SERVICES CANADA LP SUPPLIES $215.25 WATER PLANT


41968 IDEXX LABORATORIES CANADA LP SUPPLIES $382.20 WATER PLANT


41969 AVERY COOPER & CO. SERVES RENDERED $39,054.81 TOWN HALL


41970 UNITED LIBRARY SERVICES BOOKS $1,205.79 LIBRARY


41971 PRECISION INDUSTRIES EQUIPMENT RENTAL $2,625.00 PUBLIC WORKS


41972 NSIXTY TRADING COMPANY LTD IT SERVICES AND SUPPLIES $1,833.52 TOWN HALL/PROTECTIVE SERVICES


41973 CVS MIDWEST TAPE PURCHASE DVDS $187.87 LIBRARY


41974 CHAMPION COMMERIAL PRODUCTS INC. FLAGS $1,252.65 PUBLIC WORKS


41975 FIVE STAR SERVICES UNIFORMS $677.25 PROTECTIVE SERVICES


41976 WORKTUKS INC. CUSTOMS KEYCHAINS $886.75 TOURISM


41977 TDC CONTRACTING LTD. SNOW GATE FOR GRADER $11,869.03 PUBLIC WORKS


41978 BERTHIAUME ARBORICULTURE LTD FIRE ABATEMENT $7,271.25 PUBLIC WORKS


TOTAL $546,994.69


BANK OF MONTREAL PAYMENT ON MASTERCARD -SAO $2,418.08 Office Supplies & subcription


BANK OF MONTREAL JUNE PAYMENT FOR DIRECTOR OF CS $5,000.00 undentified till statement is received


BANK OF MONTREAL JUNE PAYMENT FOR DIRECTOR OF CORP. $2,000.00 undentified till statement is received


BANK OF MONTREAL JUNE PAYMENT FOR SAO $2,200.00 undentified till statement is received


BANK OF MONTREAL JUNE PAYMENT FOR DIRECTOR OF MS $1,000.00 undentified till statement is received


PAY PERIOD 14 218,182.63$      


PAY PERIOD 15 211,663.61$      


TOTAL WITH PAY PERIOD $976,840.93
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Vision  
The vision statement outlines what our community wants to be. Our vision statement 
provides a basis for future decision-making and activities.  
 


The Town of Fort Smith will work with our partners to enhance 
our excellent quality of life by respecting values, traditions, 
and healthy lifestyles. We will continue to advance as a 
unified, active and prosperous community. 
 
 


Values 
The mission defines how the Town will operate; it represents what is fundamentally 
important to us in how we work with each other and represent the citizens of Fort Smith.  
 


 Welcoming – we are a friendly community which embraces our visitors, 
students and residents alike.  


 


 Innovative – we take on new challenges in the pursuit of excellence.  
 


 Sustainable – we are committed to sustainability in our Town’s operations 
and development.   


 


 Unified – we work with Indigenous governments and our partners to implement 
our plans and achieve our goals.  


 


 Committed – we operate professionally and to the highest ethical standards. 
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BRIEFING NOTE 
 
To:  Corporate Services Standing Committee  
 
Date:  August 6, 2024 
 
Subject:  Fireweed Festival Donation Request  
 
Purpose: 
To brief Council on a donation request received from Jolene Bourque on behalf of the Fireweed 
Festival. 
 
Background: 
The annual Fireweed Festival is hosting a three-day music event, taking place on August 23rd, 
24th, and 25th, and promises to be a family-focused celebration of music, culture, and 
community in the picturesque setting of Fort Smith, Northwest Territories. Their goal with the 
Fireweed Festival NT is to create a vibrant platform that brings together musicians from various 
backgrounds to showcase their talents and create unforgettable experiences for both locals and 
visitors. They firmly believe that music has the power to unite people and foster a sense of 
togetherness that transcends boundaries. 
 
Request: 
The Fireweed Festival is seeking the use of the stage along with dedicated staff and a monetary 
donation of $2,500.00 
 
Conclusion: 
The Town of Fort Smith 2024 Annual Budget has allocated $2,500 for this Festival under Special 
Programs and therefore the request for the monetary amount can be accommodated. As well, 
Council has a remaining budget of $3,200 in their Donation amount for 2024.   
 
Recommendation: 
The recommendation is to allow the donation of the stage at a donation cost of  $1000.  
 
 
 






_1784017977.pdf


Business License Holder Number
Desnede Farmer's Market 183
Richard Daitch 184
Linaker Enterprises Inc 185
Corwin's Renovations 186
MacPherson Bro's 187
Thebacha Investments Inc. 188


Development Permit Holder Number
Destiny Mercredi DPA-030-24
NWT Housing DPA-031-24
Carl Raap DPA-032-24
Terry Freund DPA-033-24
Glen Freund DPA-034-24
Curtis Rowe DPA-035-24
Matthew Walsh DPA-036-24


Dog Tag Holder Number
Raveena and Russell Brown 22
Raveena and Russell Brown 23
Leonard Desjarlais 24


Lottery Licence Number
Fort Smith Senior’s 55+ Games 24-023


   
 


     







Details NOTES
farmer's market; vegetables, hot foods, wool, jams & jellys etc. Renewal
tutoring at college New
janitorial services, builidng maintenance, groundskeeping, event coordinator Name Change
contracting services, painting, renovations, construction Name Change
landscaping services Renewal
property mangagement Renewal


Details NOTES
Home Occupation
Construction
Construction
Construction
Construction / Power lines
Excavation
Construction


Details NOTES
German Short Haired Pointer Cross
Great Pyreness Cross
Husky Hound


Details NOTES
50/50


Town of Fort Smith
Licensing Report


For the Month of July 2024





		JUL 2024
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Message from the Mayor 


 
 
On behalf of the Town Council for the Town of Fort Smith, I am pleased to present the 
new Strategic Plan. This plan provides direction for how the Town will move forward in 
priorities, decisions, and opportunities for the next several years. 
 
We have been able to meet with residents, businesses, and other Governments 
throughout the town to talk about what is vital to our community growth, wellness, 
sustainability, roles, economy, values, and identity. It is through the engagement process 
that we identified and consolidated the goals that you see as essential for the municipality. 
Many are under the mandate of the Town, while many others highlight the role that we 
need to take as a facilitator on social and wellness issues and as an advocate for our 
community. 
 
Our decision-making process connects to the vision that our community has put forward. 
As we resolve issues that come before Council and how we will proceed, the Strategic 
Plan will be an integral part of those discussions. The Strategic Plan will be brought 
forward to the community for continued engagement through implementation. 
 
We look forward to bringing to life the vision that we have created together. 
 
 
Mayor Lynn Napier-Buckley
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Introduction 
Building on the successful implementation of the 2010 Strategic Plan, Town Council 
initiated a Strategic Plan update. A community engagement process was undertaken to 
better understand the priorities that residents feel their local government should focus on.  
 
This Strategic Plan is an important document for our town. It defines where we want to 
go as a community and provides us with the map to get there. It helps us to respond 
effectively and efficiently to issues facing our community and to take advantage of new 
opportunities that arise. It’s about setting the direction that will help to maintain the kind 
of town we want.  
 
We spoke with over 200 Fort Smith residents about your priorities for our town through 
an intensive engagement process. Whether you responded to the survey, attended a 
community event or participated through an advisory board, we thank you for being part 
of the process. 
 
Strategic Planning is an on-going process. We will need additional input from our 
residents as we implement this plan. We hope that you will continue to partner with us, 
so we can continue to meet your needs now and in the future.  
 
On behalf of the Town of Fort Smith Council and Staff, the Mayor and Council are pleased 
to present our 2018 Strategic Plan. This Plan establishes our goals and sets our direction 
over the next several years.  
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Background 
The Town of Fort Smith is nestled on the banks of the Slave River1. Once the capital of 
the Northwest Territories, Fort Smith has always been a hub of activity. For centuries, the 
Dene and Métis hunted and fished the land and tributaries flowing into the Slave River. 
The waterway was key to their movements, following the ancient rhythms of animals and 
seasons. Explorers and fur traders later used the Slave as a gateway from the Prairies 
when travelling north from Lake Athabasca.  
 
Fort Smith was the site of a Hudson Bay settlement. For 200 years, all freight from the 
south travelled the Slave River. Due to the formidable rapids at Fort Smith, this freight 
would need to be portaged. This was the route to the Arctic until a highway to Hay River 
was built in 1949 and freight was transported to Great Slave Lake. Fort Smith was the 
capital of the Northwest Territories until 1967.  
 
Today, its residents describe Fort Smith as a friendly, welcoming community. It has much 
to offer to residents and visitors alike. The Town has modern facilities, including a library, 
arena, snowboard park, track and field facility, pool, curling rink, and large gymnasium; 
excellent health and social services; and regular community programming for all age 
levels. Health and safety are ensured by the local RCMP detachment, volunteer fire and 
ambulance departments, the volunteer animal society, and the Fort Smith Health and 
Social Services Centre.  
 
Fort Smith is the NWT education capital. All grades are available, from Nursery School, 
Head Start, Junior Kindergarten, Kindergarten to Grade 12, as well as French immersion 
and alternative education programs. The town is also home to Aurora College’s 
headquarters and largest of three campuses. 
 
World-class rapids, the world’s largest Dark Sky Preserve, a UNESCO World Heritage 
Site and territorial and national parks are all nearby. The Northern Life Museum and 
Cultural Centre features impressive cultural and natural collections from the Thebacha 
region.  
 
 
 


   


                                                            
1 From Town of Fort Smith Website 
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Demographics 
The 2017 population profile below shows that the largest age group in Fort Smith is from 
ages 25-44. While this is significant, it is also worth noting that 34% of the population is 
under the age of 24 and 39% of the population is over the age of 45. 


 


From 2007 to 2017 there was a slight increase in the population of Fort Smith. It grew by 
0.2% in that time frame. However, the population of the age group 60 + rose by 4.2% 
over those 10 years.  
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Fort Smith is a well-educated community.  Those who hold a high school graduation 
diploma or have achieved higher education has increased in Fort Smith and throughout 
the NWT from 1986 to 2016. In general, the percentage of residents with a high school 
diploma or higher education is higher among those living in Fort Smith than the whole of 
the NWT.  


 


The unemployment rate in Fort Smith is generally lower than the NWT.  


 


  


1986 1989 1991 1994 1996 1999 2001 2004 2006 2009 2011 2014 2016


Fort Smith 58 61 63 62 66 71 69 74 72 73 72 77 74


NWT 52 60 60 63 64 66 65 68 67 69 69 74 73
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Average incomes in Fort Smith continue to rise.  From 2006 to 2015, the average personal 
income has been slightly lower in Fort Smith than in the Northwest Territories.  However, 
the increase in income during this period has been higher in Fort Smith. 


 


 


 


   


2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015


Fort Smith $44,063 $46,081 $48,145 $48,031 $49,820 $52,669 $52,453 $54,714 $57,441 $61,030


NWT $48,396 $51,072 $52,943 $52,998 $53,978 $56,030 $56,861 $58,329 $59,640 $61,909


 $‐
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Process 
The community engagement process took place over a 12-month period in 2017 and 
2018. More than 200 residents participated and identified opportunities for Fort Smith’s 
future. The perspectives gathered provide direction for the updated Strategic Plan. The 
process included the following opportunities for engagement: 
 


 Community Survey 
 


 Stakeholder workshops (7) – Northern Life Museum, Fort Smith Housing Authority, 
Chamber of Commerce, Fort Smith Métis Council, Fort Smith Seniors Society, Salt 
River First Nation, Smith’s Landing First Nation, and Fort Smith Health and Social 
Services Society.  


 
 Mayor and Council Workshops (3) 


 
 Town of Fort Smith Advisory Board Workshops – Culture, Recreation, Tourism and 


Trade, and Sustainable Development. 
 


 Information Booth at Aurora College 
 


 Youth Visioning Workshop 
 


 World Café  
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Vision  
The vision statement outlines what our community wants to be. Our vision statement 
provides a basis for future decision-making and activities.  
 


The Town of Fort Smith will work with our partners to enhance 
our excellent quality of life by respecting values, traditions, 
and healthy lifestyles. We will continue to advance as a 
unified, active and prosperous community. 
 
 


Values 
The mission defines how the Town will operate; it represents what is fundamentally 
important to us in how we work with each other and represent the citizens of Fort Smith.  
 


 Welcoming – we are a friendly community which embraces our visitors, 
students and residents alike.  


 


 Innovative – we take on new challenges in the pursuit of excellence.  
 


 Sustainable – we are committed to sustainability in our Town’s operations 
and development.   


 


 Unified – we work with Indigenous governments and our partners to implement 
our plans and achieve our goals.  


 


 Committed – we operate professionally and to the highest ethical standards. 
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Priorities 
Key themes and priorities emerged through the community engagement process. The 
residents of Fort Smith have a clear perspective on our Town’s priorities. They are 
presented in two sections.  The first includes priorities within the Town’s mandate to 
address; the second include priorities that the Town can work with other governments 
and agencies to achieve. 


Town Mandate 


 responsive government 
 youth 
 attraction and retention of residents 
 partnerships with Indigenous governments and others 
 safety and legislation 
 infrastructure 
 community services 
 communication 


Town as Facilitator 


 health and wellness 
 child care 
 sustainability, energy and climate change  
 education  
 economy  
 affordable housing 
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Goals, Strategies and Actions 
 
Based on the priorities our goals are: 
 


 To retain existing and attract new residents  
 


 To be the healthiest community in the Northwest 
Territories  
 


 To be a leader in sustainability 
 


 To grow our role as the education capital in the NWT 
 


 To create a diversified local economy 
 


 To operate a responsive and transparent government 
 


Each goal is supported by strategies and actions to address the priorities. We are 
committed to working toward achieving these goals. 
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To retain existing and attract new residents.  
 
Accomplishments 
  Downtown Development Plan 
 Special awards program that contributes to communication with elders 


 Community engagement 


 Development of Westgrove III 
 
Strategies 


 Support the development of affordable housing within the town 
 Support the development of high quality and affordable child care in the town 
 Work with Indigenous governments to support their development plans  
 Promote Fort Smith as the Best Place to Live North of 60 
 Develop a road connecting Fort Smith with the south 


 
Support the development of affordable housing within the town 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6 Yrs +
Identify tools the Town has to reduce housing costs A  
Work with local developers to promote diversity of 
housing types 


A   


Work with the Fort Smith Housing Authority A 
Work with the College to explore feasibility of renovating 
and renting vacant student housing


  G 


Work with the GNWT to explore the feasibility of 
renovating and renting the RCMP homes being replaced


  G 


Lobby GNWT, Minister, and Federal Government for 
support to develop housing 


  G 


 
Support the development of high quality and affordable child care in the town 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6 Yrs +
Work with partners to develop child care (including 
infant, toddler, pre-school and after school care) in the 
town 


A   


Identify tools available to the Town to support the 
development of additional child care spaces


A   


 
Work with Indigenous governments to support their development plans 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6 Yrs +
Provide and expand municipal services to accommodate 
growth and development 


  A 


Prepare for future and support settled land claims  A
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Promote Fort Smith as the Best Place to Live North of 60 “Unexpected; 
Unforgettable” 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6 Yrs +
Develop and implement a promotional campaign 
stressing location, quality of life, outdoor recreation, 
facilities and services 


A   


Partner with businesses and government agencies on a 
strategy to attract new residents


 A  


Develop a Fort Smith fact sheet for orientation to Town 
services, amenities, recreation opportunities, etc. 


 A  


 
Develop a road connecting Fort Smith with the south 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6 Yrs +
Work with the GNWT, Government of Alberta, the 
Federal Government and Indigenous Governments in 
and around Wood Buffalo National Park to create the 
connection 


  G 
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To be the healthiest community in the Northwest Territories. 
 
Accomplishments 
 Rebuilding the arena 
 Increased and stronger bylaw enforcement 


 Fire smart program 


 Partnership with RCMP 
 Pedestrian and vehicle safety improvements 


 Improvement in community services 


 Track and field facility 


 Thebacha Trail 
 Snowboard park 


 Hosting the Arctic Winter Games 
 
Strategies 


 Increase community wellness and overall health 
 Maintain and improve existing community facilities 
 Ensure the safety of our residents 


 
Increase community wellness and overall health 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Work with partners to update the Community Wellness 
Plan 


G   


Work with partners to identify funding for a Community 
Wellness Coordinator 


G   


Offer healthy food and beverage options at all Town 
facilities 


A   


Develop a youth-led strategy for meeting their health 
and recreation needs 


A   


Continue to develop both indoor and outdoor active 
recreation opportunities  


A   


Provide additional STEAM and literacy-based 
recreational opportunities 


A   


Member of Council to attend the Seniors’ lunch 
program to develop awareness of elder needs


G   


 
Maintain and improve existing community facilities 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Implement recreation facility upgrade (midlife retrofit) A  
Implement park space assessment recommendations A 
Replace Town Hall  A 
Replace Library A 
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Develop new Protective Services Building (firehall and 
ambulance) 


 A  


 
Ensure the safety of our residents 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Update and implement emergency preparedness plan A  
Roll out and use the Mass Notification System A  
Organise and attend monthly meetings with RCMP 
and quarterly meetings with Ambulance and Fire 
Department 


G   


Increased and stronger bylaw enforcement presence 
(speeding, dog control, contamination and littering)


 G  


Work with inter-agency to address youth crime G  
Identify barriers among homeowners regarding 
implementing the FireSmart Education Program


A   


Update and implement the FireSmart program for 
Town lands, private lands and Commissioner lands


A   


Citizens on Patrol in Town (work with RCMP and 
Indigenous Governments) 


G   
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To be a leader in sustainability. 
 
Accomplishments 
 Contributions of the Advisory Boards 
 Waste Management Strategy 


 Arena has electrified boiler (back up oil boiler only used if no power)  
 
Strategies 


 Be the first carbon neutral community in the NWT  
 Reduce waste 


 
Be the first carbon neutral community in the NWT 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Update and continue to implement and monitor the 
Energy Plan 


A   


Develop a climate change adaptation plan A 
Explore the feasibility of replacing Town vehicles with 
electric vehicles 


  A 


Develop a plan to replace fuel oil with hydro electricity 
for residents 


  A 


Educate residents on energy efficiency measures  A
Work with builders to develop sustainable housing  A
Explore partnerships with the GNWT to retrofit existing 
buildings with energy efficient alternatives


A   


Partner with the GNWT to identify funding to support 
this strategy 


A   


 
Reduce waste 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Implement recommendations of solid waste 
management and recycling study


A   


Explore feasibility of collection and composting of 
organics (food and garden waste)


A   


Identify funding opportunities to move plan 
implementation ahead more quickly


A   
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To grow our role as the education leader in the NWT. 
 
Accomplishments 
 Enhanced partnerships with Joseph Burr Tyrell Elementary School and Paul 


William Kaeser High School 
 Town support for school events and activities 
 
Strategies 


 Lobby the GNWT to maintain and grow Fort Smith’s educational status in the NWT 
 Building strong relationships with the Aurora College Student Community 
 Foster relationship with our schools – Joseph Burr Tyrell Elementary School and 


Paul William Kaeser High School 
 Maintain the headquarters for NWT post-secondary education in Fort Smith 


 
Lobby the GNWT to maintain and grow Fort Smith’s educational campus status in 
the Northwest Territories 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Work with Aurora College to initiate discussions with 
the GNWT about current and future plans for post-
secondary education in the Northwest Territories


G   


Continue to emphasise Fort Smith’s role as a campus 
town with lots to offer students  


A   


 
Build strong relationships with the Aurora College Student Community 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Ensure college students feel welcome (i.e. add 
student tab to Town website) 


A   


Host Town-sponsored events for students A  
Connect high school students within and outside the 
community with College offerings


G   


Lobby the GNWT to replace Breynat Hall and 
replace/upgrade student housing


G   


 
Maintain the headquarters for NWT post-secondary education in Fort Smith 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Communicate regularly with the Campus Director G  
Become closer to the governance of the College; 
communicate with the Office of the President


G   


Appoint a Council liaison person G  
Identify opportunities to participate in Aurora College 
activities such as orientation, student appreciation 
week and graduation 


A   
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Lobby the GNWT to ensure that Aurora College 
headquarters remain in Fort Smith, to reestablish 
appropriate governance of Aurora College, and to 
reinstate programs recently abolished (teacher 
education, social work) 


G   


Work with other territorial governments (municipal, 
Indigenous) GNWT Ministers and MLAs to emphasise 
the benefits of having Aurora College headquarters in 
Fort Smith, and the dangers of GNWT centralisation


G   


 
Foster relationship with our schools – Joseph Burr Tyrrell Elementary School and 
Paul William Kaeser High School 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Transition to elected members to the District 
Education Authority (DEA) with regular reporting back 
to Council 


G   


Offer student awards  G  
Support lunch and crosswalk programs G  
Review and update joint use agreement A  
Provide tournament support  A  
Identify other opportunities to partner with our schools A  
Hold annual youth visioning workshop G  
Coordinate training in municipal government for youth 
in grades 10,11, and 12 


A   


Create a youth voice on advisory boards G  
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To create a vibrant local economy. 
 
Accomplishments 
 Economic Development Strategy 
 Hired Economic Development Officer 
 
Overall Strategies 


 Support implementation of Economic Development Strategy 
 Continue training of Economic Development Officer 
 Build capacity of the Economic Development department  
 Ensure continuing roles for the Tourism and Trade Advisory Board  


 
Goals + Strategies (from 2017 Economic Development Strategy) 
 
Goal #1: Foster and Encourage Business and Job Creation and Retention 
Strategies 


 Opportunities assessment 
 Develop land & business inventory 
 Gather input from business community 
 Identify investment objectives & strategies 
 Implement investment strategy 
 Strengthen government positions in Fort Smith 


 
Goal #2: Increase Communication with and within the Business Community 
Strategies 


 Assess local business climate 
 Provide educational & networking opportunities 
 Regular communication with business community 
 Support Chamber of Commerce with “Shop Local” campaign 


 
Goal #3: Diversify the Local Economy 
Strategies 


 Create a cooperative planning strategy with community and regional partners 
 Identify areas of economic “leakage” and areas to recapture spending 
 Encourage youth and emerging entrepreneurs 


 
Goal #4: Attract and Retain Residents to live in Fort Smith 
Strategies 


 Identify the current situation 
 Define key target markets, messaging & strategy 
 Develop a marketing strategy 
 Increase housing options 
 Create a resident ambassador program 
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Goal #5: Enhance Livability 
Strategies 


 Identify areas needing improvement 
 Strengthen public engagement 
 Create a community improvement plan/program 
 Create municipal funding program 
 Identify transportation concerns 
 Grow culture and arts sector 


 
Goal #6: Attract Shoppers and Visitors from the Region into our Community 
Strategies 


 Direct marketing campaign 
 Improve visitor experience 


 
Goal #7: Champion and Assist with Tourism Product Development and Packaging 
Strategies 


 Champion new development 
 Identify the barriers to tourism development 
 Encourage cultural aspects of tourism products 


 
Goal #8: Increase number of Festivals, Sporting Events and Conferences held in 
Fort Smith 
Strategies 


 Create/maintain active Volunteer Base 
 Collaborate with local and territorial organisations to host and market events 


 
Goal #9: Work with Regional Partners to Market Fort Smith (Hay River, Fort 
McMurray, Yellowknife, Edmonton) 
Strategies 


 Market Fort Smith regionally, nationally and internationally 
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To operate a responsive and transparent government. 
 
Accomplishments 
 Paving of roads 
 More streetlights 


 Improved clearing of roads and sidewalks 


 Waste Management Plan 
 Updating bylaws 


 20 Year Capital Plan 


 Council representative on the Museum Board 


 Continuing implementation of Infrastructure Plan 
 Stability in management 


 Invigoration of Advisory Boards 
 Website 


 Opportunities for citizens to be involved in governance without being on Council 
 
Strategies 


 Continue to provide high quality programs and services to our citizens  
 Implement the calls to action for municipal governments from the Truth and 


Reconciliation Commission 
 Be the employer of choice in the NWT  
 Maintain and improve existing community infrastructure 
 Review legislation to ensure it is up to date and relevant 
 Ensure community members are well-informed 
 Improve communication and dialogue with other levels of government including 


government agencies and boards 
 Formalise orientation for new and returning Mayor and Council by Administration 


to ensure continuity after elections 
 
Continue to provide high quality programs and services to our citizens 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Undertake annual community services satisfaction 
survey to identify improvements and solicit ideas for 
new programs and services 


A   


Continue tax relief program for seniors and disabled 
persons 


 G  


Coordinate annual meeting of all Advisory Boards; 
facilitate sharing of information between Boards; 
quarterly Chair meetings 


G   


Develop a Sponsorship Policy to increase revenue 
available for programs and services


A   
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Recognise and support the work of volunteers G   
 
Implement the calls to action for municipal government from the Truth and 
Reconciliation Commission 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Fully adopt and implement the United Nations 
Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples as 
the framework for reconciliation 


G   


Reform policies and bylaws in support of 
decolonisation 


G   


Provide education to staff on the history of Indigenous 
people, including the history and legacy of residential 
schools, the United Nations Declaration on the Rights 
of Indigenous Peoples, Treaties and Indigenous 
rights, and Indigenous-Crown relations 


A   


 
Be the employer of choice in the NWT 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Organise regular staff and Council meetings and 
social activities 


A   


Highlight staff achievements G  
Maintain a safe and respectful workplace GA  
Maintain stability in management GA  


 
Maintain and improve existing community infrastructure 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Repair and upgrade roads as required A  
Repair and upgrade sidewalks as required A  
Lobby GNWT and Federal Government to stabilise 
the slide zone 


 G  


Increase streetlighting as required A  
Ensure that costs for water and solid waste are fully 
covered by users through user fees


A   


Continue to implement the 20 Year Capital Plan A  
 
Review legislation to ensure it is up to date and relevant 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Continue the review of all bylaws, policies and 
procedures to ensure effectiveness and relevance


A   


Create new bylaws as required (i.e. legalization of 
marijuana) 


A   
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Ensure residents, college students and visitors are well-informed 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Develop community communications guidelines and 
policies 


G   


Host an annual Open House to provide an update on 
Town activities and provide opportunities for public 
input 


G   


Continue monthly calendar and community news 
sheet advertising local businesses and community 
events 


A   


Make more effective use of media platforms to 
communicate Town events 


A   


Work with the College to share information on Town 
activities 


A   


Replace and relocate electronic sign A  
 
Improve communication and dialogue with other levels of government including 
Indigenous governments  
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Work with Indigenous governments to implement 
Municipal Service Agreements 


G   


Foster partnerships with other agencies and 
organisations 


G   


Regular meetings with Smith’s Landing First Nation, 
Salt River First Nation and the Fort Smith Métis 
Council to discuss areas of common concern and 
provide support where applicable


G   


 
Formalise orientation for new and returning Mayor and Council by administration 
to ensure continuity after elections 
Actions (A – Administrative; G – Governance) 1-2 Yrs 3-5 Yrs 6+ Yrs
Develop a policy mandating orientation A 
Develop procedures for when and how orientation will 
take place 


 A  
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Next Steps 
 
As a next step, we will work with staff to develop the financial plans to support the 
implementation of our Strategic Plan. Some of our strategies can be pursued, and action 
items can be accomplished, over the short-term while others might need to be pursued 
over the long-term. 
 
Meeting our goals will require a coordinated effort from Mayor and Council, staff, Advisory 
Boards, other agencies and residents.  Each Strategic Plan goal includes an 
implementation plan with suggested strategies and actions for addressing that goal.  This 
is a critical starting point for the implementation of the Plan. 
 
Evaluation and monitoring is the second key implementation tool.  Evaluation and 
monitoring annually will enable us to: 
 
 prioritize goals each year; 
 set specific performance measures and performance targets; 
 analyze progress towards meeting targets; 
 reconsider goals and timing considering progress; 
 involve residents in evaluating success; and 
 communicate successes and challenges to residents as well as plans for the 


upcoming year. 
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This approach provides a continual loop of planning, implementation and evaluation.  It 
includes all stakeholders and involves residents in proactively planning community 
services as well as evaluating how community programs and services are meeting their 
needs.   
 
Through this process we have identified our community values and priorities, and these 
will be our guide as we move forward. Our progress toward addressing these priorities 
and achieving our goals will be formally reported on through the Town’s Annual Report. 
 
Strategic Planning is an on-going process and your feedback is an important part of 
moving forward.   
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Appendix - Foundational Documents 
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Foundational documents 
 
Below is a list of the documents reviewed as part of the process of developing the 2018 
Town of Fort Smith Strategic Plan. 
 
GNWT, Cities, Towns and Villages Act (2014) 
GNWT, Summary of Community Statistics (2018) 
Salt River First Nation, Municipal Services Agreement (2001) 
Smith Landing First Nation, Municipal Services Agreement (nd) 
Town of Fort Smith, 5 Year Capital Plan (2010) 
Town of Fort Smith, 20 Year Capital Plan (2014) 
Town of Fort Smith, Capital Plan (2016) 
Town of Fort Smith, Community Energy Plan (2010) 
Town of Fort Smith, Community FireSmart Protection Plan (2010) 
Town of Fort Smith, Community Services Master Plan (2012) 
Town of Fort Smith, Drainage Assessment (2010) 
Town of Fort Smith, Economic Development Strategy (2017) 
Town of Fort Smith, Integrated Community Sustainability Plan (2010) 
Town of Fort Smith, Parks and Open Space Plan (2017) 
Town of Fort Smith, Tourism/Visitor Services Branding and Marketing Strategy 
(2011) 
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BRIEFING NOTE 
 
To:  Corporate Services Standing Committee  
 
Date:   August 6, 2024 
 
Subject:  Lawrie Hobart Memorial Donation Request  
 
Purpose: 
To brief Council on a donation request received from Christy MacKay on behalf of the PWK 
High School.  
 
 
Background: 
This is an annual invitational volleyball tournament (the Lawrie Hobart Memorial) is scheduled 
for Oct 17 - 20, 2024 This is a big tournament for Fort Smith and they get teams from all over 
the Territories. The weekend is full of great volleyball and students having healthy fun. 
 
Request: 
PWK would like e would like to request 7 extra dumpsters 5 located at PWK and 2 located at 
JBT for the tournament weekend, 
They would also like to arrange for the use of the Rec. Centre gym on: 
 Thursday, October 17 - 7:00 pm to 12:00 am 
 Friday, October 18 - 8:00 am to 12:00 am 
 Saturday, October 19 - 8:00 am to 12:00 am 
 Sunday, October 20 - 8:00 am to 5:00 pm, 
As well, arrange for extended hours and access to the showers on: 
 Thursday, October 17 - 7:00 pm to 12:30 am 
 Friday, October 18 - 6:30 am to 1:00 am 
 Saturday, October 19 - 6:30 am to 1:00 am 
 Sunday, October 20 - 6:30 am to 4:30 pm, 
They would like to offer a Players Open Swim Friday, October 18 from 7:00 pm to 9:30 pm. 
 
Conclusion: 
Council has $3,200 remaining in the 2024 Donation budget. Dumpster rentals are $100 + GST 
per month which includes a drop off, emptied twice weekly and pick up of dumpster. The Town 
currently does not have a pro-rated fee for partial month use.  
 
Recommendation: 
The recommendation is that Council donates the 7 dumpsters required for the duration of the 







tournament covering the Towns dumpster rental fee of a $100 each for a total of $700 + GST if 
the dumpsters are available at the time of event.  
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